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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) is pleased to announce
the audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2025.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Financial Results

During the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”), the Group
recorded gross proceeds from disposal of listed equity securities
of approximately HK$16.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 44.9%, as compared to the amount of approximately
HK$29.8 million for the last year. The Group recorded in revenue
of approximately HK$6.5 million, representing an increase of
approximately 22.9% as compared to the amount of approximately
HK$5.3 million for the last year. The Company recorded loss
attributable to the owners of the Company for the year amounted
to approximately HK$5.5 million (2024: approximately HK$37.8
million). The audited consolidated net assets of the Group as
at 31 March 2025 amounted to approximately HK$153.4 million
(2024: approximately HK$158.9 million). The net asset per share
of the Group was amounted to approximately HK$0.37 (2024:
approximately HK$0.39). The decrease in net asset value per
share of the Company over the year was resulted from the net loss
attributable to the shareholders of the Company for the Year of
approximately HK$5.5 million.

The Group’s net loss decreased from approximately HK$37.8
million for the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$5.5
million for the Year. Such change is mainly attributable to the
decrease in the overall loss of trading stocks from approximately
HK$32.5 million for the last year to approximately HK$6.6 million
for the Year. In relation to the Group’s receivables and unlisted
debt investments, the change to the reversal of impairment losses
on of approximately HK$0.4 million for the Year from impairment
losses of approximately HK$2.7 million led to the decrease in the
overall net loss of the Group for the Year, too.

TEEBESEARAR (AR REKE AR
(R IAEEDE= (B8 ([E=2g) AR
HAEERBE-_ZE-_AF=A=+-HILFEZL

EEENRRIN

MBS
HE-_T-_RAF=A=1+—RALFE(LXRFE])
AEBBEBSEELTRABSFNEREREY
16,400,000/ JT * 8 & £F £929,800,0007%8 JT & 2 49
44.9% ° 78 & B $7 15 i 7= £76,500,000/%8 7T+ & F 4
5,300,000 JT 38 11 4922.9% ° AN F £ AR 78k 15
RAEHEA ARG EE45,500,0008 70 ( ZF Z U4
#)37,800,000/87L) - AEER T -_RAF=A=+—
B &R R A EEFEL A153,400,0008 T (= F
Z VO : #£9158,900,0008 T) - A B BRE EFE
#R0.37B T (ZEZMF : 490.39%87T) - RAFE -
RABZREEFERD ZHBA R B REEMNAF
€ F F518 495,500,000/ JT ©

REBFREERABE T -_MNFE=A=+—HBItFE
#)37,800,0005% 7T &, 0 = A [E £95,500,0007% 7T °
ZEHTERANRNEERENBREFIEAEAFTFOHY
32,500,000 7T ik 2> & A F [E 7 496,600,000 7T ©
RAEENERFERILTEEREMS  BRAE
518 492,700,000 T R AFEMNREBERE LD
400,000 T N E AL B ARFEREEFEERD -
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Investment Review
As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s major investments were as

BREEE
R-E-RAF=A=+—H AEEZTERAENT:

follows:

Investments Description

RE Bt

Listed equities HK$99.6 million of a portfolio of listed shares in 49 companies
EmRA A9 A 7z £ k5 45 99,600,0007% 7T

Direct investment in unlisted equities HK$6.8 million in 2 direct investments in unlisted equities securities
RIELETRAZBEERE 21E3F E TR AN E 5 2 B 42 56,800,0008 7T

Debt Investments HK$41.9 million in bonds issued by 2 listed companies and 1 unlisted company
BBRE 2f8 F AR RAMIE A B8 17 2 5%41,900,0007 7T

Total HK$148.3 million

A&t 148,300,000 7T

The investment portfolio as at 31 March 2025 of the Group mainly
comprises of unlisted securities, listed securities and bonds
investment in Hong Kong and China. The value of investment
portfolio of the Group is of approximately HK$148.3 million.
As a whole, the portfolio was carefully managed and being
fully diversified to minimise commercial risk resulting from over
concentration of the investment of the Group in any single industry.

R-E_RF=A=t+—HB AEEREHESTER
BAENTEFLTES LTEFREFREEK-
KEE 2 REBAEEL 148,300,000 7T - 88 i
FREMGEFEERITEBRAZ U ZEME
AEBBOETFRENTAE-TEMBERAEZRE
2 gz o

05



06

China Investment and Finance Group Limited

PR &

£ B & R =2

=i

STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEERES

Significant Investments

The Group’s investments with fair value over 5% of value of its

total assets are considered as significant investments. In respect

of the Group’s significant investments as at 31 March 2025, set out

below are certain information on those investments:

Significant Investments

EXRE

Equity investment in WLS Holdings Limited

Equity investment in Minerva Group

Holding Limited

Equity investment in China Jicheng

Holdings Limited

Bonds investment in Gold Medal Hong Kong

Limited

Bonds investment in Hao Wen Holdings

Limited

Bonds investment in China 33 Media Group

Limited

REBERERRAZRARE

REEEERERATZRARE

R EERERERAALZ

BARE

REFERERRAZEFRE

REXERERRAZEFRE

RAB==EREBERARL
BEHRE

Fair value/
Carrying value
of significant
investments as
at 31 March 2025

R-B-IE
ZA=t-H
EARER
AVE/REE
HK$’ million
AEET

21.4

8.9

8.4

8.8

EXRE

ATEERAERERIBY% 2 A EAREANRAE
ARE-RARER-"F-_AF=A=+-B2ZEKX

BEME

Percentage

of fair value

of significant
investments to
the Company’s
total assets as at
31 March 2025
R=BZLf
ZA=t-H
BEAREZ
NYER
KARAEE
LB

13.3%

5.5%

5.2%

10.8%

9.8%

5.5%

Realised
gain/(loss)
recognised
during

the year ended
31 March 2025
RBEZE
“E-RE
ZR=+-H
LEERR
ZEER
W&/ (B8)
HKS’ million
AE#T

ZEREBEZETEREINWT

Unrealised
gain/(loss)
recognised
during

the year ended
31 March 2025
RBZ
—E-RE
ZR=+-H
LEERR
LRER
W&/ (B8
HKS$’ million
AEET

8.2

(6.7)

Bond coupons
received during
the year ended
31 March 2025

REZ
“ECEHE
ZA=t-H
LEEWRZ
BHER
HKS’ million
AEET

NIA 18

NIA 18

NIA 18

1.1
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT
EEEREE

(A) Listed Equity Investments (A) LHRAERE

WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS”, stock code: 8021)

WLS is principally engaged in the provision of scaffolding,
fitting out services and other auxiliary services for
construction and buildings work, money lending business and
securities investment business. The audited consolidated loss
attributable to shareholders of WLS for the year ended 30
April 2024 was approximately HK$11.1 million.

As stated in the WLS’s interim report 2024/25, looking ahead,
the external environment is rather complicated in 2024. The
geopolitical tensions and the lagged effects of the sharp
monetary tightening earlier will continue to affect Hong Kong
economic growth. Some major central banks are expected to
cut interest rates later in the year, thereby lending support to
economic confidence and activities around the world, though
the exact timing and magnitude of the cuts remain uncertain.
WLS will continue to focus on scaffolding, fitting out and other
auxiliary services for construction and buildings work; money
lending and securities investment business.

In the past decade, the scaffolding industry has become
increasingly competitive. Furthermore, the costs have become
high together with rising labour costs, but productivity has
suffered decline as well. In the face of a phenomenon of
ageing workers, young generation unwilling to join the
industry due to hard labour work and higher requirement of
technological qualifications, which has affected recruitment
of talents in the industry, and with heavier government
regulations, without favourable factors such as labour imports,
the carrying capacity of the industry may be challenged.
These reflect a lack of confidence in the prospect of the
scaffolding industry.

EEPERRFR 2 E] ([EE] - BR171LHE-8021)
EREFENEFARERBETIRIEHMELZE
BEERAMENRGE EEXBREFKEE
BK-RBE-_Z-_NFONA=TRHLFE EE
ZIRR G EE IR A EE X 7211,100,0008 7T ©

MUVERN — T _WNFE B - RFEREREN
HORERR —E-_MFENINBRBERERE-
WEBEREER MERAEERERENE
BUE SEBYETELELER -BEREN
HERENEENARA BERHALOEERT
SESFHARERES  BBREZREEEDL
RARBERBS TR ERBEEITINEE
NEETIRMRE R BEEREMEBRY -
EEREFREER-

ERETF BEMERFERBA I ATHK
ARE LR - KASS EEENTER TR -E

HEPTARREREAR FE-—RKERFS
REMEBEBRESMERAT FETEATHRE
MERMRBURES RZBAINLEFENE
EOUTEARENBERETER M RKRERE
WERSRZEL -
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

On the other hand, in response to demand from market
development, many contractors have adopted the use of
metal scaffolds instead of bamboo scaffolds nowadays. The
general higher durability of metal scaffolds and the possibility
of calculating load bearing capacity have shortened the time
for training of workers. Hence, bamboo scaffolds may be
eliminated in Hong Kong in the future. According to recent
trend, modern metal scaffolds have been adopted by the
industry, especially for high-end shopping malls which are
aware of exterior appearance. Therefore, the future direction
of the scaffolding business will be led by the adoption of
mixed scaffolds and iron scaffolds.

After a few years of serious efforts to develop its money
lending operations, the money lending business has
generated stable income for the fiscal year 2023/24. Despite
difficulties in repayment by customers during the Year, WLS
will continue putting efforts in the collection procedure of
loans receivable. WLS’s Guidelines and Procedure Manual
for the money lending business were issued with an aim to
comply with the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and the
licensing conditions and guidelines and other publications as
issued by the Companies Registry from time to time. WLS will
continue to update the Guidelines and Procedure Manual to
ensure stricter compliance with the aforementioned.

A—TE EAEMSERSR RSHAZEER
EXAEBEMRAKEMME D BMREREM
RltR EAFEAEN RS TRHEAEE
Bk - R RAT 2R BB A AT AL I ERAE o (K IR AT
B RONSBWMRCRAERNRRZH
LHEEIENENSRES A RRWRE
EEBRABTLESWRREAWRSTE-

RBBFEREEXTNIHE N EEXHER
TECZ/CNMUBRFEEETRENKRA B
EREPRAFEERRNE EEESEBERER
WERERERF - ERECMEEXFBMIES R
RFFM gEETEEEVE163E (HNEAK
Iy REMERER IR GEF RIESIARA T
AR BE B TS R A T - EFEASEEE H 5
SIRERFFM - AEREREE T LRRE -



Looking ahead to 2024/2025, in view of present economic
uncertainty and difficulties, WLS is reviewing its existing
assets structure and business strategies and may make
adjustment to its existing assets structure, with the aim to
consolidate its resources, so as to be flexibly prepared for
uncertainties in the future. Meanwhile, in order to enhance
its competitiveness, WLS will look for opportunities to
revitalise the scaffolding business to keep up with the recent
development and trend in the industry, in particular the
declining use of bamboo scaffolds. At the same time, WLS will
continue focusing on those business segments that generate
higher profit margins and show ample growth potential such
as money lending operations. WLS will strictly adhere to its
cost control policy, and swiftly adjust business strategies of
its scaffolding business in response to ever-changing market
dynamics in order to generate better financial returns for its
shareholders.

Finally, WLS will actively explore all suitable investment
opportunities to diversify its business horizons and will work
hard to strengthen overall business development. WLS’s
business strategy is in line with the general direction of the
government’s overall strategic development plans for property
construction, infrastructure investment and financial market

development.

The management of the Company shares the same
viewpoints of WLS and believes its business in construction
and infrastructure sectors are in line with the development
plan of Hong Kong Government and will bring positive return
to the Company in long run, but the Group will still continue
to monitor the performance of WLS and adjust the Group’s
strategy of investment in WLS, if necessary.
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT
EEEHREE

Minerva Group Holding Limited (“Minerva’, stock code: 397)

Minerva is principally engaged in business of financial
services, asset investment and money lending. For the
financial year ended 31 December 2024, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to shareholders of Minerva was
approximately HK$143.9 million.

Minerva stated in its annual report 2024 that the Year 2024
the global and Hong Kong markets encountered severe
economic headwinds, characterized by elevated interest rates,
a marked slowdown in growth, and a significant increase in
credit risk and defaults. Globally, the U.S. Federal Reserve’s
cautious rate reductions were overshadowed by persistent
uncertainty, compounded by the ongoing Russia-Ukraine
conflict. In Hong Kong, conditions deteriorated sharply: a
prime lending rate reaching highest of 5.875%. Small and
mid-sized enterprises (“SMEs”) faced acute pressure, with
loan defaults balloon to HK$14.7 billion on SMEs government-
backed loans, while Hang Seng Bank reported a surge in
credit-impaired loans to HK$19.8 billion, up from HK$1.08
billion in 2023, reflecting distress in the economic market
sector.

To address these adverse conditions, Minerva acted
decisively, realigning its financial strategies to mitigate the
escalating credit risk and interest rate pressures. A major
challenge was the significant impairment of its loan portfolio,
which faltered under high borrowing costs and diminishing
cash flows. Having endured substantial losses, Minerva has
adopted a more prudent approach, prepared to recognize
additional impairments as a safeguard against ongoing
uncertainty. This strategic shift aims to protect its operations
and investments from the pervasive defaults and liquidity
constraints affecting Hong Kong and beyond, reinforcing its
resilience in a volatile landscape.

BEEFERERLG ([BEEH]  REGAK:
397)

BEE TEXEBREBRG BERANUARK
BREE-TE-_NEF+_A=+T—HIEHK
FE RERZRIEABELEEZGABEROA
143,900,000 7T °

BEERE-T_WFFRPEM —FZUF
B 2EESMSHBHRENCEYER FE
AFNELEA BREERE UAREERBRKE
HEERM-2XME EEBAEEREED
RERBESENTHETIUEMBEE B5ERN
HEFSEREMEN TS BR2EEL:
REBRERF R SES875% - P/PNRDE ([
NEDEBTERS  BNREBPNEERO S
HemgmE147EB T ﬁﬁfaiiﬁﬁ#&iﬁﬁ
BEEHRBH T Z=F/10.88 8 L 5L =198
BT - RERACHE T 5 MR IR -

REHZETRBER BEBRETE RAEE
TSRS AR R T B E AR E SRR R EES -
IT2UBRHEFEALBRERNRE BeEE
KARBERERI MR - KEBREERE:
BEECRREZENT X EHEBEREINR
B A SBRHFEN T Etﬁﬁﬂ’lﬁz@}“‘ﬁﬁﬁ
RELERRELCZEBRAMMBROHERBELN
N B 1 PR I BT &2 22 4 T 7R R B RO ER IR P N G&
Hpg#ae -



Year 2024 proved exceptionally difficult, with its recording a
significant net loss, driven by a 20.1% decline in the Hang
Seng Composite Industry Index — Healthcare, a critical
segment of its listed equity investments, and the extensive
impairment of its loan portfolio. Global’s corporate default rate
increased to 1.91%, per S&P Global Ratings, underscoring the
combined impact of high interest rates and scarce liquidity.
Amid these challenges, its money lending and financial
services operations remained a stabilising force, delivering
consistent returns and modest growth. A highlight was the
successful Nasdaq listing of a private equity investment via
a de-SPAC transaction. With corporate defaults at 1.91%
and credit markets under pressure, Minerva continue to
adapt its strategies, prioritising resilience in this demanding
environment.

Looking ahead to 2025, Minerva maintain cautious optimism
for Hong Kong and the global economy, expecting a gradual
stabilization of conditions. Minerva remain alert to potential
shifts, particularly the persistent risks of credit defaults
and further loan impairments, which continue to shape its
outlook. Minerva focus is on preserving shareholder value
through rigorous risk management while seeking opportunities
to diversify revenue and enhance returns. Minerva views
sustainable growth as a balance of navigating ongoing
challenges and leveraging emerging possibilities in an

uncertain market.

The management of the Company believes Minerva will be
able to spur its revenue growth and create more value, but
the Group will still continue to monitor the performance of
Minerva and adjust the Group’s strategy of investment in
Minerva, if necessary.
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

China Jicheng Holdings Limited (“China Jicheng”, stock code:
1027)

China Jicheng is principally engaged in the manufacturing and
sale of POE umbrellas, nylon umbrellas and umbrella parts
such as plastic cloth and shaft. For the financial year ended
31 December 2024, the audited consolidated profit attributable
to shareholders of China Jicheng was approximately RMB10.9

million.

China Jicheng stated in its annual report 2024 that its
principal objectives are to maintain and strengthen its position
as a leading umbrella manufacturer focused in Japan market
and its own branded umbrella products in the PRC market,
and increase its market share in the existing markets such as
Hong Kong, Cambodia and Republic of Korea.

Looking ahead, China Jicheng will shift business focus
from developing upstream manufacturing to downstream
distribution network and brand building so as to facilitate
promotion of its branded umbrellas which command higher
margins and create higher values as well as bringing better
return to its shareholders. To diversify its business and
explore potential business opportunities, China Jicheng is
exploring and developing business opportunities and projects.

The Company believes China Jicheng will continue to explore
the potential of this business opportunities and utilize its
resources with prudence in the future, and China Jicheng will
bring positive return to its shareholders in long run.

B E PR AR 2N a] ([ EIER ) - BRI 15
1027)
FEEXNTENREHERIFEPOERDZ B
MEENREERMGE WERARPE-HE-T
ZMFE+ A=+ —HALMBRFE FRHEKRZ
% TR {4 B AZ 4R & i I 40 & A R 10,900,000
5t o

PEERNNE T _NFEFHRPEHE- LT EH
BREFLEREFER/BATSNERER LT
Bm5EEmERRRER 2 ARBLNREX
HEREE REENREESREMS 2T HNE-

RERR PEERGEXBFELCBERR EHFRE
BRE T 0 HEE Ko 2R A E HEE AN B
ERSERERNEUANEAETZEE REK
RERELELR-RETLBEREER LY
BEERE THRERCEVERFERERSE
KNIBHE -
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STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT
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(B) Unlisted Debt Investments (B) ¥ LmEBFRE

Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited (“Gold Medal”)

Gold Medal is a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability. Gold Medal is a licensed money lender in
Hong Kong under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter
163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and which is operated by an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of WLS. The bonds issued
by Gold Medal is guaranteed by WLS.

Based on WLS’s interim report for the six months ended
31 October 2024, its net asset value was approximately
HK$415.4 million, its current assets were approximately
HK$342.6 million and total liabilities were approximately
HK$201.5 million. In view of the guarantor, WLS’s strong
liquid assets and limited liabilities, the Company considers
that Gold Medal has sufficient financial resources to meet
its ongoing operation, there is no signal of default of bonds
issued by Gold Medal to the Group.

Hao Wen Holdings Limited (‘Hao Wen”)

Hao Wen is a company incorporated in Cayman Islands with
limited liability. Hao Wen and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the money lending business, processing and
trading of electronic parts, provision of beauty treatment
services and sales of burial plots and related services and
cemetery maintenance services. It is listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8019). The audited net
assets and current assets of Hao Wen were approximately
RMB289.8 million and RMB196.0 million respectively and its
total liabilities were approximately RMB80.2 million as at 31
December 2024. The Company considers that Hao Wen has
sufficient financial resources to meets its ongoing operation,
and there is no signal of default of the HW Bonds.

China 33 Media Group Limited (“China 33”)

China 33 is a company incorporated in Cayman Islands with
limited liability. China 33 and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in outdoor and digital advertising and film and
entertainment investment. It is listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8087).

The bonds issued by China 33 to the Group have been fully
settled in April 2025 subsequently.

ERHEEERRA([2#))

SRR HEREEAMALNBRAF -2 A
RIBE B AP F163E WE AMERD 2 F 8 7K
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Performance of the Group’s Listed Securities

The loss on listed investments of approximately HK$6.2
million for the Year represented net unrealised loss of listed
securities of approximately HK$3.2 million and net realised
loss on disposal of listed securities of approximately HK$3.4
million, net of dividend received of approximately HK$0.4
million. Set out below are further information of these net
realised loss and net unrealised gain:

Net Realised Loss on Disposal of Listed Securities

The net realised loss on disposal of listed securities of
approximately HK$3.4 million represented the realised
gain of approximately HK$0.6 million net of realised loss of
approximately HK$4.0 million.

The realised loss of approximately HK$4.0 million principally
represented:

FEFLTEFZHRE

NEE LR E K18 46,200,000 7T 5 £ T &
57 A 1B F FE 493,200,000 T K &+
M H 2 B %I EIEF5E 43,400,000 7T 0%
B Y% 2 49400,0008 T BRI S E R EE
FRERRER WS FENEZEREFINNT

HE LTS EEHEEFE
HEFMESH 2B E IR EIEF 5 £3,400,000/5
JL3E B 8 35 K 25 £9600,00078 ST 1B B # IR E B
474,000,000/ 7T °

,,,,,,, %38 6518 474,000,0008 7T F B 45 :

Company name Stock code Realised loss
YNGR B35 ERRER
HK$ million

H&EET

China New Consumption Group Limited 8275 25

MEFIEEEB AR AR

In addition to the above stock, there was no other stocks
which brought realised loss over HK$1.0 million to the Group
during the Year.

Net Unrealised Loss of Listed Securities

The net unrealised loss of approximately HK$3.2 million
represented the unrealised gain of approximately HK$18.5
million net of unrealised loss of approximately HK$21.7

million.

B PR ESN RFEELEE MR E AARE@S
KB &I E518158 151,000,000/8 7T ©
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The unrealised gain of approximately HK$18.5 million
principally represented:

Company name

NREE

WLS Holdings Limited
EEZERBER QA

Hao Wen Holdings Limited
i S B IR

HSBC Holding plc
ELERER AT

Progressive Path Group Holdings Limited
EAEBEERABRAT

In addition to the above 4 stocks, there was no other stocks
which brought unrealised gain over HK$1.0 million to the
Group during the Year.

The unrealised loss of approximately HK$21.7 million
principally represented:

Company name

NREE

Minerva Group Holding Limited
BEEZERER DA

SEEC Media Group Limited
EAEEEEERAA

AMCO United Holding Limited
ERERBR AT

In addition to above 3 stocks, there was no other stocks which
brought unrealised loss over HK$2.0 million to the Group
during the Year.

Note: The shares of all the companies mentioned under Performance
of the Group’s Listed Securities were listed on either Main
Board or GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Stock code
R K55
8021

8019

5

1581

Stock code

R 43 4K 5%

397

205

630

IR I35 4918,500,00058 7T = 45

Unrealised gain
RBRWE
HK$ million

H#ZET

8.2

3.7

1.6

1.1

M FH4EREN REEITEEMBEAARE
[ %5 2 oK 3R I 25 8 381,000,000/ 7T

KRB B EE 421,700,000 TEEHE:

Unrealised loss
REREER
HK$ million

A 2T

6.7

3.3

FREMBERFIN REEITBEBAMBELSAR
] 7 4 R 22 3R /&5 1868 482,000,000/ T,

MieE: AEBEMHESFZRBEETHRGLEIAD AR
DI R T ERKGEM £ °
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Performance of the Group’s Unlisted Securities

The Group did not dispose of any of its unlisted equity investment,
and no realised gain/loss was recorded during the Year. Unrealised
gain of approximately HK$0.6 million was recognised during the
Year.

Performance of the Group’s Unlisted Debt Investments
The Group did not acquire or dispose of any debt investments
during the Year. Please refer to the section of “Significant
Investments” for the analysis of the Group’s unlisted debt
investments.

Prospects

We expect the global market will continue to face greater
challenges and full of uncertainty especially in the era of high
inflation. Most of the developed economies in the West are facing
challenge of high inflation. China was, on the other hand, facing a
slowdown in economic growth, but its situation seems not as poor
as that of the West. The inflation in China is much less than that
in the West. When the world is facing such great uncertainty, the
Directors consider, crisis and opportunities coexist in the coming
year.

The Directors will continue to take a prudent approach in
managing the Group’s investment portfolio and develop the
investment strategies. Given the increasing influence of China
against the global economy, the Group will still be based mainly on
Chinese economy, the Group will continue to look for investment
opportunities which offer outstanding returns under the acceptable
risk in the portfolio of the Group.

The Company would consider investing in certain unlisted
securities, listed securities and fixed income products with high
potential in order to diversify further market risk.

Dividend
The Board has resolved not to recommend a payment of final
dividend.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had amounts due to brokers
(including margin payables to financial institutions) of
approximately HK$6.6 million (2024: approximately HK$6.2 million).
The Group had bank balances and cash on hand of approximately
HK$6.4 million (2024: approximately HK$7.1 million), which was
mainly placed in bank and other financial institutions as deposits.
As the Group held listed securities of approximately HK$99.6
million as at 31 March 2025 (2024: approximately HK$104.2
million), which is around 15.1 times (2024: approximately 16.8
times) of the amounts due to brokers, the Board consider the
Company’s liquidity position is still healthy as at 31 March 2025.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio (defined as total interest-bearing liabilities/total
equity) was 4.3% (2024: 3.9%), which was considered a very low
leverage level by the Board.

Capital Structure

The consolidated net asset value per share of the Company as
at 31 March 2025 was HK$0.37 (2024: audited HK$0.39). The
consolidated net asset value per share is calculated based on the
net assets of the Group as at 31 March 2025 of approximately
HK$153.4 million (2024: approximately HK$158.9 million) and the
total number of 412,596,600 ordinary shares of the Company at
par value of HK$0.001 each (2024: 412,596,600 ordinary shares
of the Company at par value of HK$0.001 each) in issue as at that
date.

The Group did not have run any capital exercise during the Year.

Material Acquisitions and Disposal of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company does not
have any significant acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,

associates or joint ventures.

Ff$f£¢EHE+—EI*$$EEH%&“?E?KIE
(BIEEMNSBEIERES)4/56,600,0005 7T (=ZF
Z VU4 : £96,200,000%8 7T ) o AL E 2 IRITH B KR FE
I & #) 56,400,000 7t ( —Z — P4 : £97,100,0007%
) EZABTREMEBEBETR-R-2Z=-_RF
ZA=+—A - XEEFEE TEF 499,600,000
7T ( —ZF Z /M4 : £9104,200,00058 7T ) © BN K LR
IHE’JZMSM (ZEZHF:H16.8fF) ALESEY
RERZZE_RAF=A=1+—HBARaENRBDES MK
SRR

EEABELE

BEAGBLR (TEATEABERE HMER) B43%
(ZEZEF:3.9%) EETEREZHEBREER
Ko

BEAREE

RZE_RAFZAZ+—H AR EBREEEEF
BAR037EITL(ZEMF 0398 T (KEZ)
BRGEEEFENBRBEAEEAR_TS_HF=1
=+ — B8 EEFMEL153,400,0008 T (—ZF =Y
F : 47158,900,0008 L) RN Z A A AR B R EE
0.0017 7T /) B 8 17 & 1 IR 48 20412,596,6000% (==
:m¢:4125966005£$@aﬂH&Eﬁo.ooﬁ%ﬁa@

BR)FTESE -

~
o

AEBERAFERAL BETERNRAES-

BHEBAR BMEARARGELEEZEANER
HESH
RBE_Z-_AF=ZA=Z+"RLFE ARFALE

ERRHEAR BERARAXSELEZERANER
HEER-



18

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
P E KR B OE &£ B B R 44 F

STATEMENT FROM THE MANAGEMENT

EEEREE

Employees

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had retained
ten employees (2024: eleven employees). Total staff costs of the
Group, excluding directors’ remuneration, for the year under review
amounted to approximately HK$0.4 million (2024: approximately
HK$0.7 million). The decrease in the staff costs was principally
resulted from the decrease in the salary of certain employees. Staff
remuneration packages were in line with the prevailing market
practice and were determined on the basis of the performance and
experience of individual employee.

Charges on Assets and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has pledged listed securities
of approximately HK$13.2 million (2024: approximately HK$9.1
million) to secure the margin payables of approximately HK$5.6
million (2024: approximately HK$5.3 million). The Group did not
have significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2025 and
2024.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets
and Their Expected of Funding in Coming Year

As at 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this announcement
approved, the Company does not have any concrete plan for
material investments or capital assets.

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

The Group’s exposures to foreign currencies mainly arises from
its investments in companies located in the People’s Republic
of China, which are financed internally. In order to mitigate the
potential impact of currency fluctuations, the Group closely
monitors its foreign currency exposures and will use suitable
hedging instruments against significant foreign currency exposures,
where necessary. No foreign currency hedge contract was entered
into by the Group during the Year. As at 31 March 2025, the Group
had no outstanding foreign currency hedge contracts (2024: Nil).

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

For the year ended 31 March 2025, neither the Company nor
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (“Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 March 2025, with deviations from
Provisions C.2.1 of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company as soon as practicable.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company had reviewed the
consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2025, including the accounting principles and accounting practices
adopted by the Company, and discussed matters relating to
auditing, risk management, internal controls, financial reporting,
the adequacy of resources, qualification and experience of staff.

The audit committee of the Group consists of three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. HON Leung, Mr. LUK Simon

and Ms. LIU Xiaoyin.

By Order of the Board
China Investment and Finance Group Limited

CHAN Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 18 June 2025
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee (“Mr. Chan”), aged 61, was appointed
as an executive Director on 8 March 2011. Mr. Chan is one of
the representatives of Sinolink Securities (Hong Kong) Company
Limited and a licensed person to carry out type 4 (advising on
securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”). Mr.
Chan obtained a Bachelor of Science degree from the College of
Business Administration of the University of South Florida in the
United States of America. Mr. Chan is experienced in dealing in
securities, fund management, corporate management, corporate
finance and managing listed investment companies under Chapter
21 of the Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Mr. Chan is currently executive director of each of China
Innovation Investment Limited (stock code: 1217), Capital Realm
Financial Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 204), Capital VC
Limited (stock code: 2324) and China New Economy Fund Limited
(stock code: 80) and a non-executive director of China Trends
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8171). In addition, Mr. Chan has
been appointed as an executive director of Goldstone Capital
Group Limited (stock code: 1160) on 1 February 2025. All these
companies are listed on either the main board or GEM of the Stock
Exchange.

Since November 2018, Mr. Chan has been appointed as an
executive director of National Investments Fund Limited (“NIFL”),
which was listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange. On 8
February 2021, NIFL announced that it was ordered to be wound
up by the High Court of Hong Kong in HCCW 67/2020 and the
official receiver was appointed as its provisional liquidator. The
listing of NIFL's shares has been cancelled with effect from 20
September 2022.

Since November 2021, Mr. Chan has been appointed as an
executive director of Goldstone Investment Group Limited (“GIGL”),
which was listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange. On 18
May 2023, GIGL announced that it was ordered to be wound up
by the High Court of Hong Kong in HCCW 64/2022 and the official
receiver was appointed as its provisional liquidator. The listing of
GIGL's shares has been cancelled with effect from 4 November
2024.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WU Qi (“Mr. Wu”), aged 41, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 3 July 2015. He is a famous securities analyst in China.
He has many years’ solid experience in the financial industries.
He has often been interviewed by many Chinese media and has
been invited by a number of financial programs as a guest. He is
also a financial columnist of sina.com, yicai.com and other famous
websites. Mr. Wu specializes in the stock market analysis and his
choice of stocks also has outstanding insights.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LUK Simon (“Mr. Luk”), aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 July 2014. He is a
responsible officer for the regulated activities of asset management
(Type 9) under the Securities and Futures Ordinance since 2003.
Mr. Luk has over 10 years’ experience in asset management and
investment advising. Mr. Luk worked in various investment advising
companies.

Since September 2020, Mr. Luk is the responsible officer of
Zhanlin Securities Limited. In addition, Mr. Luk was currently
an independent non-executive director of Infinity Development
Holdings Company Limited (stock code: 640), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange, and he was an independent non-executive
director of Link Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8237), from November 2021 to July
2023.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, aged 40, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 20 March 2015. She is currently the
assistant to the general manager of a China based investment
company. She has over 5 years solid investment and management
experience.

Mr. HON Leung (“Mr. Hon"), aged 42, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 20 November 2015. He is
the founder of William Hon & Co, and a certified public accountant
(practising) in Hong Kong, with over 10 years of professional
practice experience. He possess solid finance and accounting
knowledge. Mr. Hon is currently an independent non-executive
director of FY Financial (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (stock code: 8452), a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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The Board presents their annual report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of subsidiaries are securities trading and
investment holding.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group’s
turnover and results were mainly derived from the interest income
and dividend income from investment holding. The directors
consider that these activities constitute one and the only business
segment since these transactions are subject to common risks
and returns. The management monitors the operating results of
its business for the purpose of making decision about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Given the nature of
the Group’s operation is investment holding, it is not considered
meaningful to provide a business segment analysis of operating
losses. Details of the segment information are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group’s operation is investment holding, there was
no information regarding major customers and suppliers as
determined by the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 and
the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 92, 93-94 and
170, respectively. The Directors do not recommend the payment of
a dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$Nil).
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Group during the
year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme of the Company was approved and adopted
by shareholders’ resolution at the annual general meeting held on
29 August 2013 (the “Option Scheme”), unless otherwise cancelled
or amended subject to resolution passed at general meeting of the
Company the Option Scheme will remain in force for ten years from
29 August 2013. The Option Scheme has expired during the year
ended 31 March 2024. No new share option scheme was approved
and adopted by the Company up to the date of this report.

The purpose of the Option Scheme is to provided incentive or
reward to Participants (as defined below) for their contribution to,
and continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Group.

Eligible participants (the “Participants”) of the Option Scheme
include any employees of the Group (including any directors,
whether executive or non-executive and whether independent
or not, of the Company or any Subsidiary) and any distributor,
contractor, business partner, promoter, service provider, customer,
supplier, consultant, agent and adviser or any person who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to
the Group eligible for Options under the Option Scheme.

Without prior separate approval from the Company’s shareholders,
(i) the total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Company must not exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company as at the date of the shareholders’
approval of the option limit; and (ii) the maximum number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
to each Participant under the Option Scheme (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not (when aggregated with any shares of the Company subject to
options granted during such period under any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue for any time being.
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Any grant of options to any directors, chief executive or substantive
shareholders (as such terms as defined in the Listing Rules) of
the Company, or any of their respective associates under the
Option Scheme or any other share option scheme of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries shall be subject to the prior approval of
the independent non-executive directors or shareholders of the
Company as the case may be. Without prior separate approval
from the Company’s shareholders, the maximum number of shares
issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and
may be granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such grant shall not (i) exceed 0.1%
of the shares of the Company in issue on the date of such grant;
and (ii) have an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, in excess of
HK$5 million.

Under the Option Scheme, the options granted may be accepted
by the participants concerned for a period of twenty-one days
from the date of such offer or such shorter period as the Board
may from time to time determine. An option shall be regarded
as having been accepted when the Company receives from the
Participant the duplicate of the offer letter duly signed by the
Participant together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of option. Options may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Option Scheme at
any time not exceeding a period of ten years from the date on
which the share option is granted. The subscription price for the
shares on the exercise of an option under the Option Scheme shall
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion but in any
event shall not less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Company’s share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.
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The following table sets out the movements in the Company’s TERZINARBRAFEERN 2 BERES S -
share options during the year:
Number
Number Number  of options
Number of  of options  of options  cancelled/ Number of
options granted  exercised lapsed options
Exercise held as at  during the  during the  during the held as at
Category Date of Grant Price  Option Period 1 April 2024 Year Year Year 31 March 2025
R-B-m% FREE,/ W-B-IfF
mA-B FrRdz #FrfifEe %¥2 Z=BA=t-H
£5l Rit A TRE BRESH FsBRESBE RBRERE BREZE BREHE FEBEREHE
Directors
Bz
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee 11 August 2021 HK$0.421  Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - 3,250,000 -
BRERKE ZEZ-FN\A+-A o4t RUAHRHZE
12 August 2022 HK$0.317  Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - - 3,250,000
ZEZZFNRTZE  0MTAT RUEABEHZF
Mr. FONG On Shek 11 August 2021 HK$0.421  Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - 3,250,000 -
FRARE ZEZ-FM\A+-B 042181 RUEABEHZF
12 August 2022 HK$0.317  Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - 3,250,000 -
ZEZZFNATZR 0uTET  RULABER=F
Employees 11 August 2021 HK$0.421  Three years from date of grant 20,300,000 - - 20,300,000 -
] “EZ-FN\A+-B 0421 RBUEABEH=F
12 August 2022 HK$0.317  Three years from date of grant 26,000,000 - - - 26,000,000
ZTZZ#NRTZR 03MTERT BREABBHZA
Total
A&t 59,300,000 - - 30,050,000 29,250,000

The exercise period of all the above options are three years from
the date fo grant, and all these options are with immediate vesting
period. There was no option available for grant as at 1 April 2024
and 31 March 2025 as the Option Scheme has expired during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements and the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 95-96 of this report.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, share premium
of the Company is distributable to the shareholders of the
Company subject to the provisions of the Memorandum and
Articles of Association and a statutory solvency test. The Articles
of Association provide that an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company is required for any distribution out of
the share premium account. The Company’s reserves available for
distribution comprise the share premium and accumulated profits.
In the opinion of the Board, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to the shareholders at 31 March 2025 were
approximately HK$32,179,000.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board established a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
January 2019. The Company endeavours to maintain adequate
working capital to develop and operate the business of the Group
and to provide stable and sustainable return to the shareholders of
the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into
account, among other things, the actual and expected financial
performance of the Group, the capital and debt level of the Group,
the general market conditions, any working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future development plans
of the Group, the liquidity position of the Group, contractual
restrictions on payment of dividends, the statutory and regulatory
restrictions which the Group is subject to from time to time and any
other relevant factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the
past does not necessarily imply that the similar level of dividends
may be declared or paid by the Company in the future.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Company’s articles of association and any
other applicable laws and regulations. The Board will continually
review the Dividend Policy and reserve the right in its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the
Dividend Policy at any time.
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The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or
in no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or
from time to time.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report are:

Executive Director
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee

Non-Executive Directors
Mr. WU Qi
Mr. FONG On Shek (passed away on 17 December 2024)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. LUK Simon
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin
Mr. HON Leung

No director has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

In accordance with Article 88 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. WU Qi and Ms. LIU Xiaoyin shall retire by rotation.
All retiring Directors being eligible, offer themselves for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or its subsidiary
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates had any interest in a business which causes
or may cause a significant competition with the business of the
Group and any other conflict of interests which any such person
has or may have with the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in
force for the benefit of the directors as required by section 470
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong) when this report prepared by the directors is approved in
accordance with section 391 of the Companies Ordinance.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN EQUITY OR DEBT SECURITIES
Save as disclosed in “SHARE OPTIONS” in this directors’ report
and 2,250,000 shares of the Company held by Mr. CHAN Cheong
Yee as at 31 March 2025, none of the directors and the chief
executives of the Company had or were deemed to have any
Disclosable Interests or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which were notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to division 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interest or short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFQO)), or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for securities transactions by Directors of listed
companies contained in the Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The Company had not been notified of any person (other than
directors or chief executive of the Company) who had an interest
or a short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO as at 31 March
2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance
Code (“Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
throughout the year ended 31 March 2025, with deviations from
Provisions C.2.1 of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company as soon as practicable.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Company’s
directors or members of its management to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debt securities (including
debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no material transactions with its related
parties during the year.

The Directors conducted review of the related party transactions
of the Group during the year and were not aware any transaction
requiring disclosure of connected transactions in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the directors are subject to review and
recommendation to the Board by the Remuneration Committee and
then fixed by the Board with the authorisation of the shareholders
at a general meeting.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefits scheme are set out in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Group and
within the knowledge of its directors, the Company has complied
with the public float requirement of the Listing Rules for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

For the year ended 31 March 2025, neither the Group nor
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Fair Review of the Company’s Business and Likely
Future Development

Please refer to “Statement from the Management” in this annual
report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Please refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Protection

The Group has taken an initiative to promote employees’
awareness of environmental protection and the need to achieve
efficient utilisation of resources through launching paper recycling
in offices.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

In order to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance,
the Group emphasises the importance of adhering to anti-
corruption practices for all employees. The Group regards honesty,
integrity and fair play as its core values that must be upheld by
all employees of the Group at all times. As such, it is the Group’s
policy that employees are not allowed to solicit or accept any
advantage for themselves or others, from any person, company or
organisations having business dealings with the Group.

Company’s Key Relationships with its Employees

We consider our employees an important asset of the Company.
We strive to provide a fair and respectful working environment to
our employees.

In selecting our employees and board members, the Company
considers the experience, knowledge and background of the
individual that can contribute to the diversity and caliber of the
Company.

We encourage the staff to take seminars and other activities
related to the Company’s business. We adopt a five-day workweek
and encourage our employees to have a good balance among
health, work and social or family activities.

Community Involvement and Contribution

The Company pursues sustainable development of the community
by supporting initiatives that create effective and lasting benefits
to the local communities. We supports long-term community
investment by encouraging our employees to participate in
volunteer work.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
on pages 23 to 25 and note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements in this report, no equity-linked agreements that will
or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Group’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to the existing shareholders.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Details of the five years financial summary in relation to the
Group’s results and assets and liabilities are set out in page 172.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year have been audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited. Elite
Partners CPA Limited retires, and being eligible, offers itself for
reappointment. A resolution for reappointment of Elite Partners
CPA Limited as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

By Order of the Board

CHAN Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 18 June 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARRE

The Company recognises that good corporate governance
standards maintained throughout the Group serve as an effective
risk management tool for the Company. The board of Directors of
the Company (the “Board”) is committed to lead the Group growing
in an efficient manner followed by corporate missions in terms
of business strategies and improved operational planning and
procedures which are enforced under high corporate governance
standard.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the Corporate Governance Code
(“Code”) as set out in C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) throughout the
year ended 31 March 2025, with deviations from Provisions C.2.1
of the Code.

Pursuant to Provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Board is in process of locating an appropriate person to fill the
vacancy of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company as soon as practicable.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Group. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Group confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board of the Group is collectively responsible for overseeing
the management of the business and affairs of the Group with
the objective of enhancing shareholders value. The Board
comprises a total of five Directors, with one executive Director,
one non-executive Director and three independent non-executive
Directors as at 31 March 2025. One of the independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. HON Leung, has appropriate
professional qualifications in accounting pursuant to Rule 3.10 of
the Listing Rules. Each of the independent non-executive Directors
has made an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Group is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines. All
Directors have access to the company secretary for advice on the
board procedures and regulatory matters. Any Director may take
independent professional advice if they so wish at the expense of
the Group, as arranged by the company secretary.

Function

In view of the simple structure of the Group, all significant decision
making is carried out by the executive Director and the Chairman
of the Board while the day-to-day investment decision is based on
the professional recommendation of the investment manager.

Directors’ Training

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the
company secretary continuously updates all Directors on latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all
Directors. All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum
or training courses on relevant topics which may count towards
Continuous Professional Development training.
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Pursuant to Code C.1.4, Directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. During the year ended 31 March
2025, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities either by attending training
courses or by reading materials relevant to the Company’s
business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have made full and active contribution to the affairs
of the Board and the Board always acts in the best interests of the
Group. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board convened
a total of eight meetings. Included in one meeting was a session
held among the non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) only. The Directors can attend meetings
in persons or through other means of electronic communication
in accordance with the articles of association of the Group. The
number of Board meetings attended by each Director during the
year ended 31 March 2025 is set out in the following table. Figure
in brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings in the
period in which the individual was a Director.
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Attendance
Name of Directors EEHSR R E
Executive Director HTESE
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee PRE&REE 8/(8)
Non-executive Directors EETES
Mr. WU Qi REFLAE 8/(8)
Mr. FONG On Shek (passing away on 17 December 2024) HZALEE (R -MF+ = A+ HEEH) 5/(6)
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. LUK Simon BER 2 &4 8/(8)
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin Bl =R 8/(8)
Mr. HON Leung BBon 8/(8)

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial, business
or family relationship among the members of the Board as at
31 March 2025. All of them are free to exercise their individual
judgments.

BEFEMM R_T_RAF=-A=+—H EFg
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Ka Yin was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company in August 2017. He reports to the executive Director
of the Company and assists the Board in functioning effectively
and efficiently. He has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 March 2025.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has a remuneration committee for determining the
remuneration of the Directors. The members of the remuneration
committee are: Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, Mr. LUK Simon and Mr. HON
Leung. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the committee held
one meeting to discuss remuneration related matters. The number
of meetings attended by each committee member during the year
ended 31 March 2025 is set out in the following table. Figure in
brackets indicates the maximum number of meetings in the period
in which the individual was a committee member.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin REE T
Mr. LUK Simon PER 25t
Mr. HON Leung Bkt

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin is the chairman of the remuneration committee.
The remuneration committee is responsible for the following
functions: determining the policy for remuneration of directors and
senior management, assessing performance of executive directors,
and approving the terms of executive directors’ service contracts.
The remuneration committee has to make recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management. No director or any of his/her
associated director, and chief executive is involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration.

DREME
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HERE

1/(1)
1/(1)
1/(1)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was set up in March 2025. The
members of the nomination committee are Ms. LIU Xiaoyin,
Mr. LUK Simon and Mr. HON Leung. Ms. LIU Xiaoyin, is the
chairman of the nomination committee. During the year ended
31 March 2025, the committee held one meeting to discuss
nomination related matters. The number of meetings attended by
each committee member during the year ended 31 March 2025
is set out in the following table. Figure in brackets indicates the
maximum number of meetings in the period in which the individual
was a committee member.

Ms. LIU Xiaoyin 2T E L+
Mr. HON Leung Bkt
Mr. LUK Simon BER 2 A

The primary function of the nomination committee is to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Group’s corporate strategy.

Procedure and Process for Nomination of Directors

The nomination committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of Director(s) including independent non-executive
Director(s) in accordance with the following procedures and
process:

i. The nomination committee will, giving due consideration to
the current composition and size of the Board, develop a list
of desirable skills, perspectives and experience at the outset
to focus the search effort;

REZEE®

REZEEN T _AF=AKIL -REBEZLZEEKE
PRIABEZT ERE2AEERBRAE-ZBEREL
TAREZESEFR REBE_T_AF=-A=1+—
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Attendance

IR

1/(1)
1/(1)
1/(1)
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The nomination committee may consult any source it
considers appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors,
advertising, recommendations from a third party agency firm
and proposals from the Shareholders with due consideration
given to the criteria which include but are not limited to:

(a) Diversity in the aspects, amongst others, of gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect
of available time and relevant interest;

(c) Qualifications, including accomplishment and experience
in the relevant industries in which the Group’s business
is involved;

(d) Independence;

(e) Reputation for integrity;

(f) Potential contributions that the individual can bring to the
Board; and

(g) Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The nomination committee may adopt any process it considers
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates,
such as interviews, background checks, presentations and
third party reference checks;

The nomination committee will consider a broad range of
candidates who are in and outside of the Board’s circle of
contacts;
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vi.

vii.

viii.

CREARBE

Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship,
the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by
if thought fit,
recommendation to the Board for appointment;

way of written resolutions to, approve the

The nomination committee will provide the relevant
information of the selected candidate to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration of the remuneration package of
such selected candidate;

The nomination committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment, and the Remuneration Committee will make the
recommendation to the Board on the policy and structure for
the remuneration;

The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board who are not
members of the nomination committee and the Board will
thereafter deliberate and decide the appointment as the case
may be; and

All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing
of the consent to act as Director of the relevant Director
(or any other similar filings requiring the relevant Director
to acknowledge or accept the appointment as Director, as
the case may be) to be filed with the relevant regulatory
authorities, if required.

Vi.

vii.

viii.
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DIVERSITY

To improve the performance of the Company, the Board has
adopted policies on board diversity. The Board believes that board
diversity can be achieved by taking into account various factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, professional experience, skills, knowledge,
term of services and other talents. All the appointments have been
made based on the Company’s business models and specific
needs from time to time, and candidates have been assessed with
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board on objective
business conditions. The nomination committee will be mainly
responsible for identifying suitable and competent candidates for
Board members and assessing such candidates in light of objective
conditions. As a part of the annual performance review for the
efficiency of the Board, considerations of the nomination committee
will be balanced between skills and experience as required for
accomplishing the business targets of the Company and diversity
factors. To achieve board diversity, the nomination committee will
discuss and develop measurable objectives from time to time, and
propose the same to the Board for adoption and implementation.
Generally speaking, the selection of candidates by the nomination
committee shall be based on a range of diverse perspectives
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, race, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
term of services. However, the final decision will depend on the
strengths of the candidates and their prospective contributions
to the Board. The Board may improve one or more diversified
perspectives from time to time, and measure the progress on such
basis. The nomination committee will review the policy from time to
time, including conducting assessments on the effectiveness of the
policy. The nomination committee will also discuss any amendment
that may be necessary, and submit amendment proposals to the

Board for approval.

Please refer to the disclosure in page 65 of this annual report
for the gender ratio of the Company’s employees as at 31 March
2025.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises the following independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. HON Leung, Mr. LUK Simon and
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin. Mr. HON Leung serves as the chairman of the
audit committee. No member of the audit committee is a member
of the former or existing auditor of the Company. During the year
ended 31 March 2025, the audit committee held two committee
meetings. The number of meetings attended by each committee
member during the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out in the
following table. Figure in brackets indicates the maximum number
of meetings in the period in which the individual was a committee

member.

Mr. HON Leung oA
Mr. LUK Simon PSR 254
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin Bl i+

Responsibilities of the audit committee include:

(1) to be in charge of the appointment of external auditors,
auditing expenses and any matters regarding the resignation
or dismissal of the external auditors;

(2) to discuss with the external auditors on the nature and
scope of audit prior to the commencement of the auditing
procedures; and

(3) to review the interim and annual accounts. The audit
committee has reviewed the auditing performance, the risk
management and internal controls, and the audited financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2025.
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GENERAL MEETING(S)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company held one
general meeting, i.e. the annual general meeting. The attendance
by each Director at the aforesaid general meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2025 is set out in the following table. Figure in
brackets indicates the maximum number of meeting in the period
in which the individual was a Director.

RERXE

RBE-F-RF=A=+—ALFE AAARST
—RBEAR DRRBFAG SEERBE-T
SHEZASH—ALFEER FRREAGERH
T 45 B R MBI A 3 47 8 T 89 A

BUIRRZIRZRE-

Attendance
HERE
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee fRE& LA 1/(1)
Mr. WU Qi RELE 0/(1)
Mr. FONG On Shek FEA%E 0/(1)
Mr. LUK Simon R LA 1/(1)
Ms. LIU Xiaoyin 2 E L+ 1/(1)
Mr. HON Leung Bkt 1/(1)
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION TEER
No corporate governance committee has been established and EEE’\I[EW_L = AHmEZTEAEERN
the Board is responsible for performing corporate governance THhEER ﬁtﬁ&ﬁ BRESE RB AR A b E
functions. This includes developing and reviewing Company’s = Zﬂlﬁ&%%ﬁ AEELRRERERHEIR
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and Tii““ﬁﬁﬁx):&l‘ RIBMETEEREERE K
continuous professional development of Directors and senior KREHRE —ECRFE=RA=+t—HBILEE"

management, and the Company’s policies and practices on %%%E*ﬁ%ﬁﬁuﬁﬁ@%m%E.mZBZ%&%%Ef’

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements etc. During
the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2025, services provided to the
Group by its external auditors, Elite Partners CPA Limited, and the
respective fees paid/payable are set out as follows:

BB B &
HE-Z-RAF=A=+—HILFE I EZEMH
TEEEAMESMERARAAREREZ RS &
EN/ERZEBEERHRINMT

HK$
BT
Elite Partners CPA Limited ALlEEesMEKMARAR
— Audit services — BRI 480,000
— non-assurance services —EEFRY -
480,000
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE BEEYHUKBRRZER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements of the Group and ensures
that they are prepared in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure
the timely publication of such consolidated financial statements.
The statement of the external auditors of the Group, Elite Partners
CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting responsibilities on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 86 to 91.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Responsibility

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
are maintained. Management is responsible for designing,
implementing and monitoring the risk management and internal
control systems to manage risks. Sound and effective risk
management and internal control systems are designed to identify
and manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

EXeNEARFHREAKREGAVBRR AL
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Risk Management Framework

Risk management is enhanced continually, linking to our corporate
strategies and as a continuous part of day-to-day business
operations for all key decision making processes and core business
activities. Major activities of the risk management process include
risk assessment, which constitutes the sub-processes of risk
identification, risk analysis and risk evaluation. There involves also
risk assessment documentation, methodologies, risk treatment,
monitoring and review for ensuring the overall effectiveness of risk
management. Fraud risk management through code of conduct and
whistleblowing policy is adopted to uphold honesty, integrity and
fair play as our core values of the Group at all times. The Board is
responsible for the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and for reviewing their effectiveness. The Audit Committee
supports the Board in monitoring the Group’s risk exposures,
the design and operating effectiveness of the underlying risk
management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee,
acting on behalf of the Board, oversees the following processes:

(i) regular reviews of the principal business risks, and control
measures to mitigate, reduce or transfer such risks; the
strengths and weaknesses of the overall internal control
system and action plans to address the weaknesses or to
improve the assessment process;

(i) regular reviews of the business process and operations,
including action plans to address the identified control
weaknesses and status update and monitor in implementing
its recommendations; and

(iii) regular reports by the external auditors, if any, of any
control issues identified in the course of their work and
the discussion with the external auditors of the scope of
their respective review and findings. The Audit Committee
will then report to the Board after due review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Board considers the works and
findings of the Audit Committee in forming its own view on
the effectiveness of these systems.
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Internal Control System

The Group’s internal control system aims at safeguarding assets
from inappropriate use, maintaining proper accounts and ensuring
compliance with regulations. The system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against misstatement
or loss, and to manage risks of failure in the Group’s operational
systems. The Group’s internal control system includes a
well-established organizational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Policies and procedures are laid
down for its key business processes and business units covering
business operations, financial reporting, human resources and
computer information systems. The Code of Conduct is maintained
and communicated to all employees for compliance. In addition,
a whistleblowing policy was established for employees to raise
concerns in confidence about suspected misconducts, malpractices
or fraudulent activities relating to the Group.

COSO Internal Controls

The Group’s internal control model is based on that set down
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the U.S.
Treadway Commission (“COSQ”) for internal controls, and has
five components, namely Control Environment; Risk Assessment;
Control Activities; Information and Communication; and Monitoring.
In developing the Group’s internal control model based on the
COSO principles, management has taken into consideration the
Group’s organisational structure and the nature of its business
activities.

(i) Control Environment
The Board has demonstrated a commitment to integrity
and ethical values. It works with independence from
management and exercises oversight of the development
and performance of internal control. Management
establishes the structures, reporting lines, and appropriate
authorities and responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.
The Board is committed to attract, develop, and retain
competent individuals in alignment with objectives. It
holds individuals accountable for their internal control
responsibilities in the pursuit of objectives.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Risk Assessment

The risk assessment specifies objectives with sufficient
clarity to enable the identification and assessment of risks
relating to objectives. It identifies risks to the achievement
of its objectives across the entity and analyzes risks as a
basis for determining how the risks should be managed. It
also considers the potential for fraud in assessing risks to
the achievement of objectives by identifying and assessing
changes that could significantly impact the system of
internal control.

Control Activities

Management selects and develops control activities that
contribute to the mitigation of risks to the achievement
of objectives to acceptable levels. It also develops
general control activities over technology to support the
achievement of objectives. Control activities through
policies and procedures are established to put into practice.

Information and Communication

Management obtains, generates and uses relevant,
quality information to support the functioning of internal
control. There is internal communication of objectives and
responsibilities necessary to support the functioning of
internal control. External communication regarding matters
affecting the functioning of internal control is made where
necessary.

Monitoring

Management has ongoing evaluations to ascertain whether
the components of internal control are present and
functioning. It evaluates and communicates internal control
deficiencies in a timely manner to those parties responsible
for taking corrective action, including senior management
and the Board, as appropriate.

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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Review of Risk Management and Internal Controls
Effectiveness

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group has engaged an
external professional consultant to take the primary role to perform
the Internal Audit (“IA”) function on behalf of the Board, the Audit
Committee conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems. The annual review
covered all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and considered:

(i) areas of risks identified by management;

(ii) effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems;

(iii) adequacy of the resources, qualification and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function, and their training and budget; and

(iv) any enhancement to the risk management and internal
control systems as identified as being necessary or
proposed in the Internal Control Review Report. The Audit
Committee concluded that the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate.

The Executive Director of the Company also provided a
confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems on 18 June 2025 and
as of that date. As a result of the above, the Board whilst keeping
it under review in light of experience, also considered the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a policy on handling and
dissemination of inside information which sets out the procedures
and internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information in a timely manner in such a way to avoid placing any
person in a privileged dealing position. The inside information
policy also provides guidelines to employees of the Group to
ensure proper safeguards exists to prevent the Company from
breaching the statutory and listing rule disclosure requirements.
The Company has appropriate internal control and reporting
systems to identify and assess potential inside information.
Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening an Extraordinary

General Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

The Company may also communicate with its Shareholders
through extraordinary general meetings, if and when appropriate.

Pursuant to Article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
the Board may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general
meetings. Any one or more Members holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.
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Pursuant to Article 89 of the articles of association of the
Company, no person other than a Director retiring at the meeting
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a Notice
signed by a Member (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is
given of his intention to propose such person for election and also
a Notice signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness
to be elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
Registration Office not less than seven (7) clear days but not
more than fourteen (14) clear days before the date of the general

meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders Putting Enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the registered
office of the Company in Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Board is well aware of the importance of maintaining
proper contact with shareholders and strives to enhance its
communication with them. Shareholders can visit the website of
the Company (www.chnif.com.hk) for the latest information of the
Group, including interim and annual reports, announcements,
circulars and corporate governance related policies. Press releases
are also posted on the website of the Company in a timely manner.

General meetings serve as a communication channel between the
Board and shareholders. The Group regards such a meeting as
an important activity of the Company during the year. All Directors
and senior management would attend the meeting as much as
they can. The chairman of the annual general meeting proposes
separate resolutions for each of the independent matters. Members
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, external auditors, independent financial
advisers and external lawyers would also attend the general
meeting to answer questions from shareholders as appropriate.
During the year, the Company held one annual general meeting.
Details of each Director’s attendance at the general meetings are
set out on page 42 of this Annual Report.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing through the company secretarial department
whose contact details are as follows:

The Company Secretarial Department,

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
Room 1104, Crawford House

70 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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ABOUT THE GROUP

China Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company” or
“‘we”, stock code: 1226) is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and it is a
Hong Kong based investment holding company principally engaged
in the securities trading businesses. As the Company established
and principally provides services in Hong Kong, the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are fully committed
to environmental protection, social responsibility and the strictest
corporate governance.

While promoting sound business growth, the Group is also
committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation that
maintains high quality standards in our service and operations.
The Group considers social and environmental responsibilities as
one of the core values in business operations to strive for greater
sustainability and transparency, as well as to deliver services that
foster a sustainable environment for the future generation.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2024-2025
(the “Report”) covers the Group’s initiatives on the concepts
of Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG”) and the
implementation of the relevant concepts in the normal operations.
The Report also provides an overview to the Group’s direction
in managing ESG-related issues, driving initiatives throughout
the operation, and communicating the Group’s ESG performance
results with stakeholders. The information contained herein has
been sourced from official documents and statistics of the Group
and was consolidated and compiled with the information on
control, management and operations as provided by a number of
departments of the Group.

The preparation and presentation of related information in this ESG
Report has been prepared with reference to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 ESG Reporting Guide to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
The Company has prepared this Report to meet the “Comply
or Explain” provisions, of which mandatory Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs) are disclosed. The Report focuses on the Group’s
ESG performance driven by the main business in Hong Kong
during the Reporting Year from 1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025 (the
“‘Reporting Year”). The board (“Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
has prudently evaluated the development prospects of the existing
business.
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Reporting Principles

This Report is prepared in accordance with the reporting principles
according to Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules, including materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency.

Materiality

The content of the Report is based on stakeholder engagement
and materiality assessment, which includes identifying ESG-related
issues, gathering and reviewing views from internal management
and various stakeholders, assessing the relevance and materiality
of the issues, and compiling and verifying the reported information.
The Report has covered a comprehensive range of key ESG
issues that are concerned by the stakeholders.

Quantitative

The key performance indicators (“KPIs”) established must be
quantified so as to allow the evaluation of the effectiveness of
the ESG policies. Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools, and source of conversion
factors used for the reporting of emissions and energy consumption
are mainly referred to the ESG Reporting Guide.

Balance

The information provided is unbiased. The Report provides
a holistic description of the performance of the Group on
achievements, rooms for improvement and challenges in ESG. The
report should avoid selections, omissions, or presentation formats
that may inappropriately influence a decision or judgment by the
report reader.

Consistency

A consistent quantification methodology is adopted in this Report
to allow for meaningful data comparisons being made over time. If
there are any future changes in methodology, it shall be indicated
in the Report.

This Report is prepared in both Chinese and English. Both
versions have already been uploaded to the website of HKEX at
www.hkexnews.hk and Company’s website at www.chnif.com.hk.
The Group will continuously publish its ESG performance on a
regular basis each year, which can be accessed by all parties at
any time, to enhance the transparency of information disclosure in
the future reports.
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BOARD STATEMENT OF ESG GOVERNANCE

The Board is responsible for the Group’s ESG strategy and
reporting, including evaluating and determining ESG-related risks
and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal control systems are in place. The Board is also
responsible for formulating ESG targets, aiming at aligning with
the global vision of carbon neutrality and enhancing corporate
reputation.

The Board delegated the Director of the Group, Mr. Chan
Cheong Yee, to monitor and manage the ESG-related issues.
Besides, the Group has established the ESG Working Group (the
“Taskforce”), which is led and managed by the Director, to ensure
the alignment of the ESG governance with the Group’s strategic
growth. The Taskforce is comprised of members of the Board
and core members of the different departments. The Taskforce is
responsible for executing the Group’s ESG measures, collecting
and analysing ESG data, giving suggestions to the Board on ESG
issues and reviewing ESG-related matters.

With the assistance of the Taskforce, the Board continuously
evaluates and monitors the Group’s ESG performance, risks and
opportunities. The members of the Taskforce have meetings to
discuss the effectiveness of the Group’s policies and procedures
and seek opportunities to improve the Group’s ESG performance.
The Taskforce reports its findings to the Board where appropriate
so that the Board can look for solutions to manage the Group’s
ESG risks and opportunities.

In order to better govern the material ESG issues of the Group
and the Group’s performance in these aspects, the Group has
set environmental targets in different aspects. The Taskforce will
continue to strive towards achieving these targets. The Taskforce
will review the progress of these targets and take measures to
achieve them and report on the progress and make suggestions if
needed to the Board at least annually. Rectification may be needed
if the progress falls short of expectations.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The HKEX ESG Reporting Guide states four reporting principles,
which include materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency, as
the foundation in preparation of the Report. As emphasized by the
HKEX, the participation of stakeholders is an evaluation method
of materiality. By means of communicating with stakeholders,
enterprises could understand the general opinion and identify
important environmental and social issues.

The Group believes that identifying and addressing stakeholder
views lay a solid foundation to the long-term growth and success
of the Group. In order to prepare this report, the Group has
engaged an independent professional party to conduct a materiality
assessment by distributing questionnaire and incorporating the
advice of professional consultants to clarify important reporting
issues, which serve as the determination basis for the direction of
the Group’s sustainable development.

The communication channels between the Group and its major
stakeholders are as follow:

Internal Stakeholders External Stakeholders
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The principal stakeholders are the shareholders and investors of
the Group. They can discuss directly with the Group’s directors
during the general meetings and send emails to the Directors
to raise their concerns. For internal communication channels,
employees can raise their opinions and viewpoints to the Directors
for further improvement.

The operations of the Group have significant impacts on various
stakeholders, while stakeholders have different expectations of the
Group. Looking forward, the Group will continuously strengthen
its communications with its stakeholders, and extensively collect
stakeholders’ opinions on various ways that would lead to a more
comprehensive materiality analysis. Meanwhile, the Group would
also enhance the reporting principles in terms of quantitative,
balance and consistency, and the presentation of content and
information of the report are defined in a way which better
conforms to stakeholders’ expectations.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Sustainable development encompasses a holistic spectrum of
environmental and social aspects. In order to harness the related
risks and opportunities, it is important for the Group to determine
the most material aspects. The Group conducted the internal
materiality assessment annually to ensure sustainability topics are
being managed and reported in accordance with their materiality
level.
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To determine the materiality of the selected ESG topics, the
views of senior management from respective operational regions
were sought. The senior management, who possess a high-level
view of all the topics, were asked to score the relevance of each
ESG topic to stakeholder groups and the Group in each of their
perspective. The topics listed in the table below were identified as
the most relevant to our business and operations.

Aspects Material ESG Issues

=g EXRRE HEREAREE

A. Environmental Aspect

A REEME
A2. Use of Resources .
A2. ERfFEM . BERBRERME

B. Social Aspect

RTEEMERR - HLERERTENERME  HM
BRTEELCERESREEENER SREEE
HETRBAEARERNEE LERMMERH
FHIMAEBENEBAEHEERE LeMER
TEMMBERRMEETD - TR EEER S LA
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Energy consumption and efficiency

B. #8EM
B1. Employment Employee welfare
B1. &1& B ERA
Inclusion and equal opportunities
BARTERS
Talent attraction and retention
UGN E A= PN
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is committed to operating business activities in a
clean and sustainable manner. Our business typically engages
in investment in listed securities in Hong Kong and in unlisted
companies. As the Group does not engage in any complicated
operations, the environmental impacts are limited to our office
facilities, the management of waste and resource conservation.
The Group strives to curb emissions and waste, as well as
conserve energy and water resources.

EMISSIONS

The Group’s emissions include air emissions, greenhouse gas
(“GHG”) emissions, discharge of domestic wastewater and solid
wastes. The Group strictly adheres to environmental laws and
regulations in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the
‘PRC”), including but not limited to the Environmental Protection
Law of the PRC, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and
Control of Atmospheric Pollution, Air Pollution Control Ordinance
(Cap. 311, the law of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.
354, the law of Hong Kong), Water Pollution Control Ordinance
(Cap. 358, the law of Hong Kong) and Noise Control Ordinance
(Cap. 400, the law of Hong Kong). During the Reporting Year, the
Group was not in violation of any relevant laws and regulations,
which have a significant impact on the Group, related to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Air Emissions

The Group examined the issue of air emission across the
operation. As mentioned, the Group is principally engaged in
financial related services and activities, and with no company-
owned cars that will emit exhaust gas, therefore, there is no
significant impact in this aspect. The Group thus concluded that
no material impact on air emission can be found through direct
emission from the operation. Indirect carbon emission through
electricity consumption is measured and details shall be provided
in later sections. The Group will continue monitoring operation
activities and further information shall be disclosed as changes

occur.

REEME
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group does not generate direct air pollutants through its
operation. The Group is mitigating its indirect greenhouse gas
emission and is actively measuring its carbon footprint. The
greenhouse gas emissions of the Group are mainly generated from
indirect emission (Scope 2) from the consumption of electricity,
and other indirect emission (Scope 3) from paper sheet and plastic
bag disposal. As the Group did not own any vehicles during the
Reporting Year, there were no direct greenhouse gas emissions
(Scope 1).

Purchased electricity of the Hong Kong office is the major source
of carbon emissions. The Group will investigate and work with
the employees and external stakeholders to enhance overall
performance and minimize future carbon footprint. Since the
Group is an investment holding company and the greenhouse gas
emissions are insignificant, no reduction target for greenhouse gas
emissions has been developed. However, the Group still targets to
maintain the greenhouse gas emission by the next Reporting Year.
The carbon emission for the Group during the Reporting Year can
be found as the followings:

Greenhouse gas emissions

in total and intensity 2024/25
BERBAEHREREE ZE-M-EHEF
Scope 2 emissions 0.11
#[E 258

Scope 3 emissions 0.01
& E 3B

Total greenhouse gas emissions 0.12
RERBAEYRE

Intensity (by revenue) 0.02

BERBHM

AEERLEBRTPYBELERRBIRY KK
EREROEMBREREHN BEREHEREY -
AEERREREHNEIEREEIERNBEZER
(FE2) KR8 AR & IR SR B IR /0 H b ] 2 Bk (88
B3) MR AEERBEFELEEFEFTE X
VTEEZEEREHER (HLE1) -

EEMRNENIBENRIENRIBURE A& H
BiEgE—FPHRE WERES RN EBE T A E
NIERERARMBRERDERKIKEE ARARK
LA HREZEBRAR HRERBHBAFEX
WA ESERDRERBEBERA B IR A1 NEH
MESEEET HREFENEFAZEREBHNE-X
SEERSFEELORERNT

2023/24 Unit

—E-=/"MF B

0.24 Tonnes CO,-e
W —SMLiREE
0.01 Tonnes CO,-e
MR —SALIRE 2
0.25 Tonnes CO,-e
W —E(biE =
0.05  Tonnes CO,-e/million
HKD revenue
Bo_EtmREE  BEATkE
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Waste Management

The Group has set up a Waste Management System as the guiding
principle for waste reduction at source. As a socially responsible
corporation, we are cautious in limiting and managing our daily
operation waste. Wastes are separated into two categories for
better management purpose, including general wastes (domestic
wastes) and recyclable wastes.

Waste reduction measures throughout the operations focus on
recycling paper, and the appropriate use of recycled paper in
workplace. Other waste reduction actions are:

. Reuse pen shafts with refills instead of simply throwing away
the whole ballpoint pens;

. Dispose rechargeable batteries only in designated collection
boxes;

. Recycle toner cartridges; and

. Deploy recycling bins to collect used paper products, such
as waste paper, letter and envelope (excluding confidential
documents).

To reduce paper wastage, senior management has implemented
the following additional measures to encourage a paper-less
working environment:

. Adopt an electronic system for filling and documentation;

. Promote electronic communications and the “think before you
copy” attitude, where employees are encouraged to use both
sides of the paper for printing and copying;

. Set computer defaults to double-sided printing and make
double-sided copies when possible;

. Communicate through email is suggested instead of letters or
fax when possible; and

. Receive incoming faxes electronically through an e-fax
system, and make hard copies only when necessary with
used paper.

BRYEE
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BRA-EA-HARFHGEERNAR AEEE
HHRH ML EEEAEKEELNEEY - BEEYA
DRMBAEEHETER: —RERZD (RERE
ZY)) RO KR EEEY) o

EREPHTHBEEDEREREIZE/RREKEAE
T A% P 8 A [ AR o o B4t #E 17 89 BE 22 4 HIR
IR

- BATHRECEECERER MATEESEE
RFEEZE:

¢« BARENBLEEERENEKRE:

- BKBBE: R
- REDWRENEERBNERS MR-

REH (TREREXXM) -

RETHRESR SMREEECEEA NHEER

HORNEEDEMTIFRE:

. EMET RGO R R

- BOEFBEARI=ZBMmEIEN] MBS SBHE

TR AR &7 51 0 ;

c KBERRESRRE@MIEALAEAENERTE

8 1) £ :

© REETENBATERETHAMIEGEHKRE
BEBEA: M

s PRETHEEARSUESFHIAERER EEYH
E R LA B A AL SR 51 EN AU iR



60

China Investment and Finance Group Limited
P E KR B OE &£ B B R 44 F

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE  HEgRERKRE

At the current stage, non-hazardous waste is not a material
issue for the Group, as there is negligible waste generated from
our operations. The Group aims to maintain the intensity of the
non-hazardous waste with the baseline year in 2024 in the next
Reporting Years. However, the Group realises the importance
of proper waste management and will continue to educate its

employees.

Non-hazardous Waste Management 2024/25
BEBEFEYERE B —HE
Non-hazardous waste

EEREEY

Total non-hazardous waste produced 12.0
FELABREFEEDRS

Intensity (by revenue) 1.835

BE (st E)

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group understands that effective resource management
is closely related to environmental protection and corporate
sustainability goals. Due to the nature of offices’ operations
and business, the major resources consumed by the Group
are electricity, water and paper. The Green Policy provides
various energy-saving measures for office activities. The Group
has enabled the off-timer function of office equipment, such
as photocopiers, printers and computer monitors in its offices,
allowing such equipment which have been idle for a long time
to automatically power down to save electricity. The Group also
considers the gradual replacement of energy-saving lamps,
including the installation of additional automatic light sensors
where appropriate. More than 30% of the office paper staff used
was from recyclable sources. The Group focuses on purchasing
supplies manufactured from recycled materials, such as tissue
paper.

The Group has taken an initiative to promote employees’
awareness of environmental protection and the need to achieve
efficient utilisation of resources through launching paper recycling
in offices. As stated in the Green Policy, the Group encourages its
staff members to scale down font size, reduce paper margins and
set up double-sided printing.

EHREE AREBELNERY A BT BE
ERENHAEEMSAFEATE - AKEN B R
RET—REFEU_ZS_NFAELEFRISEESE
RYMBE - A AEERADNZLEETEEREZYN
BEEW YHEEHEHEBT-

2023/24 Unit

—E-=/ZE B

12.0  Kg
A

2.256  Kg/million HKD
A/ BEBT

BERER
AEBRANAYNEREREARBTREMDEENA
SELZRAGETHBE -ENBRAENEERERL
B AEEMERNIZEERBEEN KRMEK 4
BRRHHMAEBHRHET TRANEEREE AR E
ERPAEEEE THREEMBRSENIRE
RRASHERADE EREENETRENRBEED
AN EEN - AEBTEEE S ERAGEER
BREECEHRYEEMEDALERSREE-ETHAN
30% A Ly A R AR BRI R R - AN R B A B
NBE BB B EKOA NSRS -

AEBERBERAERENRABALBBERAEMAE
MERODKRERERNOSENAE - REBRITINARE
EZBETRAE N FRIFMENMESZIE XA
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The Group incorporates environmental issues into its business
plan systematically, including formulating more detailed corporate
internal guidelines for environmental protection, as well as
formulating sustainable development policies and road maps in the
long term and proactively promoting a number of environmental
protection campaigns. The major resources used by the Group are
principally attributed to electricity and water consumed at Hong
Kong office. The Group aims to improve its energy efficiency so
as to achieve low-carbon practice and emission reduction year by
year.

The water consumption of the Group is minimal and was included
in the management fee. Therefore, the figures were not available
for our calculation. The daily water consumption is mainly supplied
by the municipal water network, and there is no difficulty in
sourcing water.

Due to our business nature as an investment holding company,
our operation does not involve a significant amount of energy and
water consumption. Although we have not set reduction targets,
the Group has implemented the following measures to enhance
resource efficiency and the results achieved are listed below:

Light-emitting diode (LED)

. Partial lightings of the office have been installed with light-
emitting diodes instead of compact fluorescent lamps which
can reduce electricity consumption as compared with compact
fluorescent lamps.

Water consumption

. During the cleaning of office, the cleaning workers were
strictly controlled for using of water and frequency of cleaning.
As a result, the consumption of water was saved.

Non-hazardous waste

. Non-hazardous wastes generated from the office includes
plastic bottle, paper for office use and kitchen waste. The
Group has made its best effort to minimize environmental
impact by using recyclable raw materials and supplementary
materials in the production process. The Group promoted
separation of wastes such as cartons and plastic bottles,
which were placed in certain areas assigned to recycled
suppliers for collection.

AEERERGBHRRBZEAALEFEZF B
EHFTEFENOCEARPRRES ARKEAFE
FRBRNBERE BHREHESERRTHIR K
EEEANTIZERIERBEBMERZEANEN
RRK-REBEERTERRE KMEIERE
B B R A B

AEBNBKERD UHAERED - At HAE
RIS ERZEEE - -AERKETEAMBUKEH
J& - It BR KOS B IR 2 -

MRBRMNEBHEARERBRAE RNOEET
S B A BB 1O B TR R K 1O 3 o R 3 1P 3 4 3R E AL
B2 A E BT BHERIEE SRAE M
BRI RFIRMT :

&k —#E (LED)
. MAENIH S BPECEAEL —HERRBERE -
A2 EETRSBE -

)i
s HEWAEMBFRBIEF BRABZEBILEHIK
MERARBERIBER A ST REAK-

BERREY
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Total packaging material used during the year is 0.012 tonnes. The
Group has consumed the following amount of resources during the
Reporting Year:

Direct and/or indirect energy

consumption by type 2024/25
RENEINEER SBEEREE —E-m/-FEF
Indirect energy consumption 0.66
fEl 4 L IR H 7%

Total energy consumption 0.66
BEREEASE

Intensity (by revenue) 0.101

BE (RWRETE)

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES
The Group is committed to providing a complete picture of our
environmental initiatives. We strive to build an eco-conscious
culture that ingrains positive lifestyle and habits among employees.
We encourage the use of public transportation, and offer job ticket
incentives at some locations. Our event management is also an
avenue by which we seek to integrate sustainability principles.
Events are usually held on-site and avoid the use of disposal
utensils. For catering, locally grown/produced items are preferred
as opposed to packaged items with a higher carbon footprint.
Green procurement is adopted at some locations through the
purchase of eco-friendly cleaning solutions. During the Reporting
Year, there was no significant amount of natural materials used by
the Group.

REEEBOBEMEEER0.0120F - AEENFRE
FEHEEMERENT
2023/24 Unit
—To-=/-HF B
1.28 GJ
HEH
1.28 GJ
HEFE
0.241 GJ/million HKD revenue
HEE B8 TWE
BRERXRAER
REBFORET ETESHNRRTE KM L&

Y-RBRREBHEOXE FEREXCERRERER
MAEBEDAMBEF HMBXBERIAIBTA
VHEREWHREHTFZER RMNEHEEDE
BEMSREAAKEZRRANEEC - FHBETER
TL«T&L%@EH@* MR A B E R BB
ERNENBRARAL FAHEE HSENERRER
AHR-EBBERRBRAR RUEMWHTEATHRER
B-RREFE AEBELBEREETARAER-
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CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change poses escalating risks to many industries. As such
risks may engender negative impacts on the business operation,
thus the Group’s management assesses the risks incurred by
climate change. Supported by the Taskforce, the Board oversees
climate-related issues and risks regularly during board meetings
and ensures that they are incorporated into our strategy. The
Group has identified possible impacts of climate change on
business operations and mitigated the major impact caused by
climate change.

For physical risks, extreme weather has been more frequent
and severe due to climate change. The increased frequency and
severity of extreme weather might negatively affect the Group’s
operations. Under extreme weather, operational facilities may be
damaged, while the safety of the workforce may also be impacted.
The Group has developed guidelines for working arrangements in
adverse weather, which guide employees to respond to possible
emergencies such as being unable to work because of flooding
or typhoon strikes in the event of typhoon and rainstorm weather
warnings. The Group will stay alert to any announcement by
the local government on weather conditions and prepare for
emergency actions.

For transitional risk, HKEX has required listed companies to
enhance climate-related disclosures in their ESG reports, which
may result in increased compliance costs. Failure to meet the
climate change compliance requirements may expose the Group
to risks of claims and lawsuits, which may also cause a negative
impact on its reputation.

In the future, tightened policy actions and emerging technologies
might require the Group to switch to low-carbon operations
in the office. The upgrade of the office equipment with higher
energy efficiency and lower greenhouse gas emissions may
incur extra operation costs to support the Group’s technological
transformation.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practices

The Group ingrains social responsibility into all aspects of its
operations. Maintaining honest and authentic dialogue with our
staff, we seek to address our needs and views that ensure our
conduct is responsible at all times. We commit to offering a fair and
safe workplace with staff development opportunities. Furthermore,
we commit to the delivery of quality products grounded on ethical
business conduct and supply chain management, as well as to
meaningful engagements with the community.

Employment

The Group considers its staff as one of the most important assets,
which underpins the growth of the corporation. Each employee
deserves respect and is committed to providing a pleasant working
environment for them. The Group strives to provide a fair and
respectful working environment to our employees. The “Staff
Code” of the Group expressly provides policies in respect of
compensation, recruitment, dismissal, promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity and other benefits and welfare.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group,
including but not limited to the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 570,
the law of Hong Kong), Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap.
487, the law of Hong Kong), Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap.
480, the law of Hong Kong), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608,
the law of Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap.
282, the law of Hong Kong), Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
Ordinance (Cap. 485, the law of Hong Kong), the Labour law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Production Safety Law of the
People’s Republic of China and Prevention and the Control of
Occupational Diseases of the People’s Republic of China.

HEER
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As of 31 March 2025, the Group has a total of 15 employees, BEZZ-_RAF=RA=1+—H ASEHEA1SKE
including employees from Hong Kong, and the total employee T (BREEEEI) LREENRKLERI13% 2T
turnover rate is 13%. The distribution of the workforce classified by HRBPME I MU
different categories is listed as follows:
Total workforce 2024/25 2023/24 Unit
BEHAH SEDN-EFE —To="MFE B
Total number of employees 15 17 Employee
EEHEY ZES
By Gender Male 10 11 Employee
R BIEN B ZIER
Female 5 6 Employee
gl ZEE
By employment type Full-time 13 17 Employee
REREARNE S 7 ZES
Part-time 2 0 Employee
e Bk ZIES
By age group 30 years old or below 0 0 Employee
RERERE S 30 LA T FZEE
31-40 years old 6 6 Employee
31-4075% ZEE
41-50 years old 4 4 Employee
41-50%% ZEE
51-60 years old 1 3 Employee
51-607% #EE
Over 60 years old 4 4 Employee
6075 A £ ZER
By employment category Director 5 6 Employee
RESHEMNE S 5% ZIER
Employee 10 1" Employee
E& ZEE
By function Executive 14 16 Employee
REEeE D 1T ZES
Administrative 1 1 Employee
7K ZIER
By geographical region Hong Kong 8 9 Employee
=i 85 s ZEE
China 7 8 Employee

B #RE
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Employee turnover rate

BERKLLE

Total employee turnover rate

HREMARLLE
By Gender
R BIE

By employment type
ZIERERE D

By age group
REWRERE D

By employee category

ZEEERIE D

By function
RS D

By geographical region
sl 5y
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Recruitment and Promotion

The human resources department conducts a comprehensive
recruitment review process to ensure that the data provided
by the candidates are accurate. The Group’s recruitment and
promotion process are carried out in a fair and open manner for
all employees. Employees are recognized and rewarded by their
contribution, work performance and skills, and outcomes will not be
affected by any discrimination on the grounds of age, sex, physical
or mental health status, marital status, family status, race, skin
colour, nationality, religion, political affiliation and sexual orientation
and other factors. In cases of resignation and/or dismissal, the
entire procedure is compliant with statutory requirements, with
exit interviews conducted as necessary. Long-serving employees
are recognized through award schemes. The Group monitors
the turnover rate with a view to continuously improve our human
resources management.

Compensation and Dismissal

The Group’s policies and procedures included in the human
resources manuals are reviewed and updated regularly. The
Group discourages and disallows any behaviour that violates the
regulations in the human resources policies. Offenders will receive
warning, and the Group has the right to terminate employment
contract with offenders for any serious violations. The Group’s
staff grievance mechanism is a confidential channel by which
staff may report suspected cases of rights infringement, which
are then handled according to formal procedures. Other regular
communication channels include newsletters, circular notices,
notice boards, as well as working groups. Staff satisfaction
surveys and staff motivation schemes are also conducted which
further demonstrate our commitment to improving the working
environment.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not
discriminate on the basis of age, sex, physical or mental health
status, marital status, family status, race, skin colour, nationality,
religion, political affiliation and sexual orientation. In selecting our
employees, the Group considers the experience, knowledge and
background of the individual that can contribute to the diversity
and caliber. We embrace diversity and inclusion in our employment
policy that builds a respectful workplace, where equal opportunities
with regard to recruitment and promotion are given to staff with
disabilities. Necessary accommodations to work environment are
also carried out to meet their needs. All personnel staff receives
training related to non-discriminatory practices for the surest
measure. The Group strives to ensure a safe and secure workplace
with zero tolerance to any form of abuse and/or sexual harassment
in the workplace. Staff grievance and disciplinary procedures of the
Group are established to ensure all submitted cases are treated
with confidentiality and fairness.

HEEET
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Working Hours and Rest Periods

We seek to cultivate a culture of healthy work-life balance. All
working hours comply with national laws and benchmark industry
standards, and overtime work is voluntary. The Group adopts a
five-day work-week and encourages our employees to have a
good balance among health, work and social or family activities.
The Group assists staff to balance commitments outside of work
by offering a range of leaves, which include annual, marriage,
maternity, paternity, compassionate and others. To encourage
social bonding in the workplace, the Group has also arranged
recreational events during the Reporting Year, such as dinner
gatherings, sports activities, and birthday and festive celebrations.

Other Benefits and Welfare

Employees of the Group are remunerated at a competitive level
and are rewarded according to their performance and experience.
We conduct annual performance appraisals and remuneration
review that take reference of prevailing market trends. Employees
are entitled to performance-linked bonuses, retirement benefit
schemes, as well as medical coverage.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

Regardless of local laws or international standards, regulatory
bodies all have in place the basic requirements in relation to health
and safety in workplaces. Due to its business nature, the current
business operations of the Group primarily involve office work
and no position has been identified as having high safety risks.
The Group not only strictly complies with the relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong, but also sets out “Code of Employee
Safety Management”. The above policy aims to foster awareness
of safety of employees and regulate the employee’s behaviours
during their daily work. The policy also states that fire-fighting
equipment, such as fire extinguishers, are required to be equipped
at the workplace, and safety training and fire drills for employees
are conducted regularly, in order to enhance employees’ capability
to cope with unexpected incidents and allow them to perform

safety protection in a timely manner.

TERRBR R

B OkEE—EAREIEEEZTTFENOXE-TEB
THEEBMAFEEIENMITEZLEZE  RINKEB
BEREEE AEEETRARIES SEESTRERE:
THERMRIREZEBRGERG FEH - AEE BB
RESERBRRBHEIFEIENINEE 215
FRER ER BER EREHEM - RBEBS
MRXBEE AEERREFERNNLH T SHEREE
B OMBE BEEHRAERHESAEM-

Bt 58 K57
AEENREESABHFINNGTM LREMMANOSK
BNERERSED -RMN2EENTEBEETFE
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& A FH B A R B AR AR IR

RERZZ

BERMITEVERSEREENER MBEEEHRED
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The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
applicable Safety and Health laws and regulations that has
a significant impact on the Group relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Cap. 509, the law of Hong Kong), Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282, the law of Hong Kong),
Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurance (the law of Hong
Kong) Fire Services Ordinance (Cap. 95, the law of Hong Kong),
etc., during the Reporting Year. During the past three years,
including the Reporting Period, the Group did not record any
accidents that resulted in death or serious physical injury.

RHEFE AERLTAFEARNEERERRZET
ERELRBETHRBEERENAARLBEXE
FENTNEERRERZERBIOEOIEAL (2
ERETRRBER 2 REERD (FEEDIFES09%) -
EEMEGD (EBEDIE2825) THERE GO (&
IR EPERD (FRIEBIZEIBE)F)MIFR -
BE=BFE (BERSEHRE)  NEBELEESEM
BYRTCHABEAFBENER -

Health and Safety 2024/25 2023/24 2022/23 Unit
BERRZE SE-N-EE ZED=/ZNF B 2= By
Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 0 No.
ETERMEMIE T AR A
Rate of work-related fatalities 0 0 0 %
ETEBEMILT AL X

Lost days due to work injury 0 0 0 No.
EIEBRAIERH x
DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING BRERIEI

The Group firmly believes that fostering and retaining talent is a
core part of ensuring corporate development and strengthening
its competitiveness. The Group has prepared its management
system on staff training, which formed the basis of planning and
implementation of training system. The Group has offered various
types of targeted training to its staff based on the actual needs of
different departments and functions, and developed personalized
training development programs for key positions, aiming to
motivate employees to develop their potential. The Group has
also encouraged staff to engage in external programmes, such
as online courses for continuous professional development and
skillset enhancement.

AEBRE BEFEBEBEFATRBEREEZHERMN
Fogle b RBBFHNZL - AEBESIE (B TH
EEGE)  REIESNRBNRERRMR T KE-E
ETRAMPALBENERFTE AEEASBETRHES
BRASHHENEINLH HRRECAA S EEAL
MEII RS ARBE TRHEEELE AKE TS
BB T2 miNEBRIZ - PIMIERRIZ AR EREN B
EBERMZER
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Percentage of trained employees

ZIEEBES L

Percentage of trained employees

XiIREES L
By Gender
R BIE 5

By employee category

ZESERE D

By function
g B

Average training hours
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Average training hours per
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The Group offers induction orientation and appropriate assistance AEEAE (B TREABIEIREDHEN - A
for every newly-joined staff member. The induction orientation BEIATETEAEAEEGN CEXE - HEF
mainly introduces the Group, its corporate culture, rules and ERTABRBEND FEILRABRAREERREX
regulations and code of conduct, etc., which enables staff to fit b UARETERERBREARAD Tﬂﬁ"zﬁ’ilﬁl
into the corporate culture of the Group and further understand their NEETRAISEHEZFRTAREHEXERE BAT
working environment and responsibility. The Group is committed B BEXRAOCEZHTENERALIE J\ ° 8
to establishing a platform for career development for its staff and TIREKEe2MINEBIZ B RPN EESEI RE
to providing on-job internal training relating to professional skills, §§E}J§\I%73ﬂﬁEﬁ%ﬂ&ﬁ’\]ﬁﬂé"f@&ﬁ@%@)° e
general management skills, career development and mentality. AEENEBERFE ASEBHZEREXZTENME
Also, staff are provided with the opportunity to attend business Eﬁi%alﬁ)@é%ﬁiﬁﬁiéf’ﬁ'i%ﬁﬁn EEERMA SR

training organized by external training organizations. The Group ST A R AL
encourages the staff to take seminars and other activities related

to the business. Based on its business development requirements,

the Group will consider to cooperate with relevant training

organizations or institutions engaged in providing training for

certain management or technical personnel in key positions.

Training for new staff Training for existing staff Entrusted training

#E T RS T3 ZFEE

* Introduction of the Group » Professional skills  Training for technical
« Corporate culture « General management personnel
. skills  Training for management
* Rules and regulations ersonnel
» Career development P
» Code of conduct and mentality ;
+ Business training o IATEAA T
- AEEB{N o BEERASEI
s EMIE . BEEREE
- REFIE - RAEIERAE
s TTRRE - BEIHEERE
- EEE
Looking ahead, the Group will strengthen its staff communication AR -AEBBMABEE T EBOEG - WEETH
mechanism and gather staff feedback on training. The Group plans BIWER -KNEBE &R %Eﬁi BETWEEINERH
to collect feedback on training including satisfaction surveys from R -PIMHEERAES UK EERTEFINEE D
participating staff, and to review the implementation of training EER i — FIRA N R AN B aE

programs in a timely manner, so that the effectiveness of the
training system could be further enhanced.
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LABOUR STANDARDS

Child and forced labor, though seemingly irrelevant to most
developed societies, are in fact easily present in the value chain
of any business operation. To combat against such practices, the
Group prohibits all forms of child labor and forced labor or modern
slavery, as defined by the International Labour Organization, not
only in our operations but also throughout our supply chain.

We prohibit any form of forced, bonded or compulsory labor,
human trafficking and other kinds of slavery and servitude. Any
form of discrimination, harassment or bullying is not tolerated.
We extend our commitment to our suppliers by requiring all
business partners to take measures to avoid and eliminate any
form of forced, bonded or compulsory labor, or human trafficking.
The rights and freedoms of every individual is protected as no
worker is asked to surrender identification documents nor lodge
deposits as a condition of employment. Cases of child labor in our
businesses are averted by conducting age verification of all job
applicants. If there are any cases of forced labour, child labour
and illegal immigrant labour on staff, employment with all these
candidates will be immediately terminated. The Group would also
take responsibility for the investigation.

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57, the law of Hong Kong),
Immigration Ordinance (Cap. 115, the law of Hong Kong),
Employment of Children Regulations and other applicable laws and
regulations relating to preventing child or forced labour during the
Reporting Year.

OPERATING PRACTICES AND SOCIAL
INVESTMENT

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

It is our objective to work and procure from reputable suppliers,
and the Group’s internal control policy provided procedures for
supplier selection and engagement are formulated to ensure
fairness and openness. As the business nature of the Group is
investment, there was no major supplier for the Group’s operation.

The Procurement and Tender process is generally applicable
to office supply suppliers, such as on potable water, paper and
stationery products, and is decided based solely upon price, quality
and needs. Suppliers should comply with all relevant local and
national laws and regulations to avoid unethical behaviour, bribery,
corruption and other prohibited business practices. Any non-
compliance act shall result in termination of future cooperation.

TR
BEEIMNREETIUFTRASZHEBETGMEEA B
ERLRAZGHBEANCELENBEES - RIT
BERME ASETEERMNLEET NERE
HEETFHZITEBESTHEHSGMTEN —FEANE
TR0 5% i 8 T sk 3R AR i -

BAMRLEMRANRE KEXBHSZE AOR
EBUREMTEANRBRANRE - BFRBEMT A
AR BREHREOE - R ARBERIKERS 25X
BRI E VER FEERERE i LA 8 o2 FUH BR (E a1 712 =0 19 58
BHRERBHBSHRAQRE - BEANENN A
HEZIGRE RATEERLKEIMEIRBGNENR
X EBRREIERBERIGT BBHMAELBEE
THEERE BR2BRMACETFEETIRMG -HER
EARHESE T BT RIFEBRSE TWIER KL
RIFREHEZSHEREAN - AEETERERE -

RHBEFE AEELTANTEG LEMETINRE
BIHhmEABNERNERERGD (FAEEDE57
B) ALK (BEREFIENSE) - ERZERIIN
Ko Bl 3 FOAE ) K SR IR IR

EEBIIRHEERE

HEEER
AEENRERABEBERFBENHERETEER
R BASENANEEBRITAHRERGFERE
BREF AERAFRAF - AKENREXBKELRE
R AEEYETIZRBHER-

(RBRER) REREZEANRLARHER
plangRmK - -BEREX ARG Bx2RER HER
FRELRE - HEFHBAETHAABNLT RBEX
ERER ABRTERITR WK BSREMEL
MEETR - ERERTABEBRKAIERL-
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The Group also focused on the environmental and social risks of
its suppliers. The Group focused on purchasing from suppliers
who complied with all labour and environmental regulation of local
government and authorities. Looking forward, the Group intends to
periodically evaluate supply chain performance in environmental
and social aspects, and appropriate compliance assessment shall
be conducted in order to reduce operation risk and protect rights
and interests of all parties.

To integrate the environmental vision of the Group into the
procurement of office supplies, priority is given to environmentally
friendly products, such as refillable ballpoint pens, mechanical
pencils and recyclable toner cartridges. Besides, we prioritise
purchasing energy-saving products in order to reduce the negative
effects brought by the Group’s supply chain. With our strict
adherence to green procurement principle, the usage of materials
is constantly evaluated to avoid overstocking and squandering

resources.

During the Reporting Year, the Group was not aware of any
potential negative impact on business ethics, environmental
protection, human rights and labor practices, nor any non-
compliance incident caused by suppliers.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group’s operation is investment holding, and there were no
material issues regarding to product responsibility, health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters as determined by
the Group.

During the Reporting Year, the Group did not identify any non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided in the Reporting Year. These laws include but
not limited to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486, the
law of Hong Kong), Trade Marks Ordinance (Cap. 559, the law of
Hong Kong), Patents Ordinance (Cap. 514, the law of Hong Kong)
and Copyright Ordinance (Cap. 528, the law of Hong Kong).

AEENETHEFNBEREREGRKB NEEFE
P38 ST 75 RS S M B /O P &5 B T2 3R 30 3R 191 0 4 e
PHEITRE BERAR NEERTEHIGHRE ML
CEAMEEERR THETEENAREZ UK
DEERRRIRE ST E o

REAKREZRREBBARREHERRBZ S
BMBEEBRARER WABRELZRFERS
B CEARARBRRERORNE UL HMEE
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BABRETRARBRA SEFEVRERBR

BPEFNIREER

RBEFE AEET PANBEMEEHBHEBE-
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group believes that integrity is the fundamental value of
responsible corporate operations, as well as the root of maintaining
competitive advantages and sustainable development. The Group
values the good characters and conducts of its staff members and
has zero tolerance over any behavioural misconduct, including
corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud or money laundering. The
“Anti-Fraud System” of the Group sets out the concept and format
of such misconduct, the vesting of responsibilities of anti-fraud
endeavours, the complaints, receiving and reporting procedures
of fraudulent activity, preventions and control of fraudulent
activity, protection of informants, as well as the remedies and
disciplinary actions on fraudulent cases, in order to incorporate
the management principles of anti-corruption in the business
operations.

k&S
AEEREHAERAXABERLENEREER B
CEEBHFEZNHELLNORAN - AEEERE
TamiT BT BE)ST BR R BFAARES
TETREDNTRRNEE -AKEMN (RFEHE)
AETELTETRAOBSETR REENETR
B SEEERMANER FERRE  FROTAR NS
REERANERE FENBREREETFFRZR
ERESNEERINEZSCHBALEZE-

Anti-Corruption 2024/25 2023/24 Unit
RES —E-N-EHE —ZT-=/ZNF B
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corruption 0 0 Case
EEREPRESOFDRRMTHE (&5
Whistle-blowing Policy BRYF

In respect of unverified reports from the general staff, the office
of the Board shall conduct joint evaluation with the human
resources department of the Group to decide whether to conduct
an investigation. Should the case involve any senior management
of the Group, with the permission of the Board and the audit
committee, the standing officer of the anti-fraud unit and the
management of the respective department shall form a joint
special investigation unit to conduct a joint investigation. Any staff
confirmed to be involved in such fraudulent activities shall be
subject to disciplinary actions within the Group, or, any misconduct
of a criminal nature shall be referred to the judicial authorities
for processing under the laws. Regardless of conducting special
investigation or not, the Group shall respond to the complaining
persons in regards to the result of the investigation, and shall
record in detail the complaint and investigation materials and keep
the relevant files for record.

HE - REIREBENER ESENREER
SRANBERIBPFIABKRETHBLRERE E
HE-FRRESIAEEINREERAE K
BRIRERMBABNERBAEEABIRESTS
BHZBEHAR HAREKSHIHE NEETHE
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BARBRAEER HEASRNBEM B TAZRE
SR RSB

o



Annual R rt
2024/25 a ;p"ﬁ

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RS HERERERS

The Group shall maintain the confidentiality of the reported
information and relevant information of the complaining persons,
and restrict any staff member receiving such complains or involved
in the investigation from disclosing any such information without
authorization or verification. The abovementioned system is

applicable to all staff members.

Anti-corruption Training

The Group understands the importance of promoting anti-
corruption thoughts to the employees. The Group prepared
an internal anti-corruption training session for Directors and
employees to strengthen the anti-corruption practice and enhance
the awareness on conflicts of interest and integrity issues. The
training session was led by Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (Executive
Director).

During the Reporting Year, the anti-corruption measures of the
Group were in effect, and no court cases involving corruption of
the Group or staff members have arisen. The Group is not aware
of any material non-compliance with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201, the law of Hong Kong) and other applicable
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering during
the Reporting Year.

AEBYHMARRERARBRFERANBBESE
TRE THREESSERBFHNSEBBBFIASOTHE
ABTHBEETAAZHELTENERES - Lt
HEERRAEERBET-

g-v:i
AEETHRAREEERESEBNEEL -AE£H
REERBTEET —ZARAMREFHEIR AR
RESEBRMRESHNGEEREAEHENEH -1
IHBITEEREREETF-

RBEFE AEEREGEEETZBRN AR
BHREXAEBRETHBENESHARME - RBS
FE AEELTABERE DR HFFRERES
EHETABREAZENTMEEER B LHE
fEd1) (BEZEDIZE201F) LA K H A 3@ X B R )
KB o

Anti-Corruption Training 2024/25 2023/24  Unit
R & —Eom—EHE =/ "WF B{
Number of anti-corruption training

sessions 1 1 No.
REFHIIRE /N
Total number of training hours related to

anti-corruption 16 18  Hour
RESHEBEEIIER K N
Percentage of employees with

anti-corruption training Directors 100 100 %
BEXRESEINEEES o=

Employees 20 .8 a0

(==
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

As the market places focus more on corporate behaviours and
social responsibilities, the pursuit of maximizing financial returns
to reward shareholders is no longer the only goal of corporate
management. The Group pays close attention to its bonds with the
community where it operates and is well aware of the importance
of different stakeholders’ expectations. The Group firmly believes
that balancing the interests between shareholders and other
stakeholders is the only way to achieve the long-term business
development in a stable and healthy manner.

The Group pursues sustainable development of the community by
supporting initiatives that create effective and long-lasting benefits
to the local communities. The Group supports long-term community
investment by encouraging our employees to actively participate
in social welfares, voluntary services and community activities in
their spare time, so as to further share the care and warmth to
their families and surrounding communities. Our staff dedicated
10 hours per year to community investment by volunteering with
‘Doctor Pet,” a non-profit organization. They visited hospitals,
residential care homes, day care centers for the elderly, integrated
children and youth service centers, and various schools (including
universities, secondary schools, and kindergartens) with their pets.
The Group will continue seek opportunity on making contribution or
participating in the voluntary work on supporting education for the
needy in the coming financial year.

Looking forward, the Group will study the possibility of establishing
the specialized committee to plan and promote such activities in
relation to the sustainable development of communities based
on its own prospect and objective in respect of the Group’s
sustainable future.

HERE
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HKEX ESG INDEX ERBIARR HLERERED
KPls Disclosure Requirements Sections
BRERER WERE E=4:0]
1 Governance Structure disclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues; ESG Governance
EiaE REEFESHRE HEREREENEE: R e RERLE
board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the ESG Governance
process used to evaluate, prioritise and manage material ESG-
related issues (including risks to the issuer’s businesses)
EZEeNRE LERELERAHRER FTME BAHIRE BR dekERE
BEENHRE HEeREAEREE (BREBTAEXBNEAR)NE
2
how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals ESG Governance
and targets with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s
businesses.
BEZRMAZRRR e RERAEBEERIER URBCMAME R5 tekEAE
BITAEBEME-
Reporting Principles Description of, or an explanation on, the application of the following  About This Report
Reporting Principles (Materiality, Quantitative, Consistency) in the
preparation of the ESG report
B ¥ R Al HIAREERBRE HERELRESFNAEATIIERRA (8 BRAKXRS
ZM- 2 —B)
Reporting Boundary A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report About This Report
and describing the process used to identify which entities or
operations are included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the
scope, the issuer should explain the difference and reason for the
change
b % 85 2 RRRE HEREARSHERSE REMKEMLERBIERD FRAXRSE

AR HEREAREHBR EERBEL AU BTARRE
TRZEREHRE
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KPIs Disclosure Requirements Sections

BREMIER BmERE E4: 0]

Environmental
RE
Aspect A1: Emissions

EEA:HERD

A1 General Disclosure Policies Emissions
— MR R BFABERMAZEREBENR RKRLNES EEREZEEVNE FRY
EZHE

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Emissions
impact on the issuer; relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,

discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

BTHBETARERYENAMZEERBAD - R
A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions

BERUY TR 5 R AR B B - e
A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Emissions

emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit

of production volume, per facility).

B (8E1) katREZE (8E2) A= REBHERE (AEFE) R (0 #EBY
HR)EE (WASGESEM BHERMTH) -

ki

iﬂlﬁ

DH\

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, Waste Management
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
MEAREEEYES (UEtE) R (NER)ZE (NABESSM BEEDER
BERMTE) -

A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Waste Management
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
PREAEREERMAES (UHEAE) R (NER)TE (MABESSEM EENER
SERIEHE) -

A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve Emissions
them.
WA N EE R R AEREL R RARRA S - B
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are Waste Management

handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken

to achieve them.

HIEBEERESEEDN T L REAFITVAREEERAE BEENER
FEEEERMERRN TR
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KPIs

BREENERE

A2 Use of Resource
EIRE A

A2 General Disclosure
—RIEE

A2.1

A2.2

A2.3

A2.4

A2.5
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Disclosure Requirements

BmERE

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.

BERERER(BREER KEEAMERMR)OBE-

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity,
gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
RENESOERE R/ AREER (1S Raloh) BFEE (ATET
RRFE)RERE (MASES S BERMTH) -

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
BFREKERTE (WAGESEL BERMTHE) -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
WA HRERE AN G EERAEIEL A EMRR TR

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit
for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

HCKEGER KR EAI B E A& AR UMAK G R RE
EHELERMERALR -

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and,
if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
RRMAABEMHNAE (NEAE) R (ER) BEEEUKE-

£ &

Sections

E8: 0]

Energy Consumption

B IRE

Energy Consumption

REJRH

Water Consumption
Ak

Energy Consumption
R HRE

Water Consumption

FA7K

Packaging Materials

BEHH
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- HERES

KPls
HMEAMER

A3

A3

A3.1

A4

A4

A4 1

The Environment and

Natural Resources
RERRXAER

General Disclosure

—RIE

Climate Change
RIRE{

General Disclosure

—REE

Disclosure Requirements

BmERE

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

BEZETAHRERRAREREXEATEOHK -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
HAEBEHHRERRAERNEAZERCRNEREHZ BN
T8

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.

Hhl R EE B R ATE
o

EEUBRTAEARYENEARBEABEENER

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

HHBER AU BTAEEYENEAREEAEE  RIEHTE -

Sections

E4: 0]

Environment and Natural
Resources
RERRAARER

Environment and Natural
Resources
RELRKAER

Climate Change

ARSI

Climate Change
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moyte | 31 T SO R A
RIS - B NRERRE
KPls Disclosure Requirements Sections
BERENERS WERE =8
Social
te
B1 Employment
=3
B1 General Disclosure Policies Employment
—BEE EFRFMLEE BERES TESS BB TSR 2R ER
IR AR DA T B A 755 38 T A M B B
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Employment
impact on the issuer; relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment, and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.
BTHBETARBERZENBBEERAM - ER
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or Employment
part-time), age group and geographical region.
BRI ERER (WM2REER) FRENRGEIINEERE - ER
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical Employment
region.
BRI FRANKMRE DA EERKL X B
B2 Health and Safety
EEREZ S
B2 General Disclosure Policies Health and Safety
—RIRE BE EEETSE

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Health and Safety
impact on the issuer

BITHRETABEAZENABEEZRMAM REzE
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RIE - HERERRE
KPIs
B R

B2.1

B2.2

B2.3

B3 Development and Training

B R RIE
B3 General Disclosure

—RE

B3.1

B3.2

Disclosure Requirements

BmERE

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the
past three years including the reporting year.

BEZF (BEESFE) SFRTCHOABRILE-

Lost days due to work injury.
AIGEATIERS:

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted,
and how they are implemented and monitored.
HIFRA BB ERT 2 HE UXABRTRERA A

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

ARRTERET TEBREMANBLREOBE - #lEINED -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

ER R EEER (NEREERE PRERE)IINXIEERD
Lo

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.
BURIREEERE S BREETRZINTHEE-

Sections

E4: 0]

Health and Safety

EREzs

Health and Safety
Bz

Health and Safety

REEZE

Development and
Training
EEYEE

Development and
Training
R KE

Development and
Training
EEYEE]
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o 1= AY N
RIE -HERERHRS
KPls Disclosure Requirements Sections
BREENERE WERE i=4:1]
B4 Labour standards
TR
B4 General Disclosure Policies Labour standards
R B 4 TR

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Labour standards
impact on the issuer

EFHBETARBEAZENEMER KM B ITRA
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid Labour standards
child and forced labour.
iR IS E A AR R E T RRE ST - % TAR|
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when Labour standards
discovered.
B ERRERBRNEREBERTRRE S B TR
B5 Supply chain management
R g
B5 General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply Supply chain
chain. management
—RIRE ERMHEEENIRZ R ERBRBE - e R
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply chain
management
RRE S HEREE - HREEE R
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of Supply chain
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they management
are implemented and monitored.
M EREREEINEN MERTERENNHEREE - UARIE HERER
BRITRERR &
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social Supply chain
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and management
monitored.

mhEEANEERSEARGNREREERBNEN  AREEY HEREE
TRER A
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RIE - HERERRS

KPIs Disclosure Requirements Sections

BERENES WERE =8

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable  Supply chain
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are management
implemented and monitored.
HIERERERARREELZARRERRRBNEN NIRRT HERER

B6

B6

B6.1

B6.2

B6.3

B6.4

B6.5

Product Responsibility
EmEE

General Disclosure

—RIWE

RERT .

Policies

B®

compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant

impact on the issuer

BTHRTABERTZENMARERNAD

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.
PEEAEEXERBEHTRAR 2 EEEERMAR MK E S L -

Number of products and service related complaints received and
how they are dealt with.

RREENERMREORFEEAREHT A

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.
g ERREABEEEANED -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
HiEERTBERERBKERF-

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

HWLBEEBHRERLBRE UARABATREESZ-

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Product Responsibility

mt

mEME

Product Responsibility

}_ﬁjSEDD,\ErE

mt

Product Responsibility

EmELE

Product Responsibility

EmA

Product Responsibility
EmER

Product Responsibility

il

EmEE
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moyie | 31y T2 S AR AR
RIE -HERERHS
KPls Disclosure Requirements Sections
BERENERS WERE =8
B7 Anti-corruption
&5
B7 General Disclosure Policies Anti-corruption
—BEE 28754 &5
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant Anti-corruption
impact on the issuer
BTHETAREATENAMER KD &5
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought Anti-corruption
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and
the outcomes of the cases.
RERMALETASEEEREIEEENE SFARGNHER RESF
AR
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, Anti-corruption
and how they are implemented and monitored.
Ry & A R RWIE T AR ITRER A k&S
B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. Anti-corruption
HiMEEFRE TRENREGE - k&S
B8 Community investment
HERE
B8 General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the ~ Community investment
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take into consideration the communities’ interests.
—MRIREE FRENHR2ERTREEMEHEFTENRREEBZHSER L HRERE
B M) &5 B UK -
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, Community investment
labour needs, health, culture, sport).
EIERERE (HE RRFE BIHER BE Xt -BF)- HERIRE
B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community investment

EEIBRBMPIAER (MEBERERH) - HERE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBAERE

elite
partners

To the Members of
China Investment and Finance Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 92 to 171, which comprise the consolidated statements of
financial position as at 31 March 2025, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BPERAREREERAA
(RESHSEMA T2 HFRLA)
ERERR

=R
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(R IEEE]) ZGEAMBHRE  WEREGHMBERERE
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HERZALFEZHFABEERAMEZANER Ka
%ﬁ """"" R NEARERNER U NEA P BRERM
F(BREXRESABERER) -

HARR ZEGFaUMBREIREEEgHMAE (&
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AT RZEEVBRRALEREE Eiﬁltﬁr
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RRzE%E
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of debt investments measured at
amortised cost

We identified the impairment assessment under expected credit
losses (“ECL”) of HKFRS 9 for debt investments measured at
amortised cost as a key audit matter due to its significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the significant management
estimates and judgement required in the measurement.

. Determination of the criteria for significant increase in credit
risk (“SICR”);

. Selection of models and assumptions used in the ECL
models, including Probability of default (“PD”) and Loss given
default (\LGD”); and

. Establishing the relative probability weightings of forward-
looking scenarios.

In addition, the ECL measurement involves management estimates
and judgement in the consideration of various factors, including
the realisable value of securities or collaterals from clients and
their guarantors which are held by the Group and subsequent
settlement and additional collaterals received.

The total gross amount of debt investments measured at amortised
cost was approximately HK$51,195,000 with accumulated
impairment provision of approximately HK$9,273,000 as at 31
March 2025, details of which has been disclosed in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Annual R rt
2024/25 a ;p"ﬁ
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B ZBAERE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our major audit procedures in relation to this matter including the
following:

. We evaluated the competence, capabilities and independence
of the Group’s external valuer;

. We understood the established policies and procedures
on impairment assessment of the Group in relation to the
application of ECL model under HKFRS 9;

. We assessed the reasonableness and appropriateness of the
management’s judgement on staging criteria for determining if
a SICR has occurred or the financial asset is credit-impaired
and the basis for classification of exposures into the 3 stages
as required by HKFRS 9;

. We evaluated the reasonableness and appropriateness of the
model and assumption; and

. We examined the reasonableness and appropriateness of
significant data inputs into the ECL model, including PD
and LGD after taking into consideration of forward-looking
information;

. We tested the mathematical accuracy of calculation of ECL
allowance.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

Annual R rt
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.
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. Plan and perform the Group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a
basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, action taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Siu Jimmy with Practising Certificate number
P05898.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Unit 1503, 15/F, Jubilee Centre,
18 Fenwick Street,

Wanchai, Hong Kong

18 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
,2,51-\ ’g‘ E %é & E {‘m + E LI& %‘E 43):2 For the year ended 31 March 2025 B ZE —ZE-_hHF=A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—E-RF —EoNEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b &t FERT FHET

Gross proceeds from disposal of HEETES S RIBLE

listed securities 16,402 29,770
Revenue Iy = 8 6,538 5,318
Net realised loss on disposal of HEUNRFEFAEREZ

listed equity investments at fair value FRAEEZEEREE

through profit or loss ekl (3,365) (45,662)
Net unrealised (loss)/gain on listed INAFEFABREZ

equity investments at fair value EHRAEE 2 RER

through profit or loss (E518) /WH 58 (3,185) 13,201
Net unrealised gain/(loss) on unlisted equity LA A F{EFT ABZEZ

investments at fair value through FELEMRAIRE 2

profit or loss RER W (BR)FH 573 (335)
Net reversal of/(provision for) impairment  FEHIZ EEEERA THREE

losses under expected credit loss model EsERLD, () T8 10 407 (2,728)
Administrative expenses THAX (5,941) (7,141)
Finance costs BhE AR 12 (502) (422)
Loss before tax MRBLATE R 11 (5,475) (37,769)
Income tax credit Friefi e 13 = -
Loss and total comprehensive expense ZARQTEEAEEER

for the year attributable to owners EERZEHBAZAHE

of the Company (5,475) (37,769)

HK cents HK cents
AL P

Loss per share BREE

— Basic —HK 15 (1.33) (9.15)

- Diluted — 15 (1.33) (9.15)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
% é ,E\ZI' ﬁ% Hjt 5R qsfz For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ—Z - hF=HA=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—E_RE —EPUF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
iz FET FAET
Non-current assets RBEE
Equity investments at fair value INAFEFABREZ
through profit or loss f& A& & 17 6,849 6,276
Debt investments measured BEERATEZBBIRE
at amortised cost 18 15,808 32,845
22,657 39,121
Current assets REBEE
Equity investments at fair value AR EFABREZ
through profit or loss f& A& & 17 99,604 104,196
Debt investments measured BEERATEZBBIRE
at amortised cost 18 26,114 11,972
Other receivables, prepayments H bW GRIE - BRI RIERIZS
and deposits 20 5,933 5,886
Cash and cash equivalents HEMREeEEY 21 6,435 7,112
138,086 129,166
Current liabilities RBAE
Amount due to brokers JE & 42 5T 22 6,629 6,218
Other payables and accruals HMERRIEBERETER 727 3,207
7,356 9,425
Net current assets RBEEFEE 130,730 119,741
Net assets EEFRE 153,387 158,862
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R -~ 4

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —Z - hF=HA=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—EC-HF —T-mEF
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
M iF FTExT FHET

Capital and reserves EXR#EE
Share capital [N 23 413 413
Reserves (Eke] 152,974 158,449
Total equity 4B 153,387 158,862
Net asset value per share (in HK$) BREEFEET) 25 0.37 0.39

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

FEMBREAENR_ZE_AFNAT/\HEESZSH]
EREETE WEHTIALTRRES:

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 18 June 2025 and
signed on its behalf by:

CHAN Cheong Yee HON Leung
BRE& B
Director Director

EFE EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEZEBR

£ &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ—Z - hF=HA=+—HILFE

Capital Share
Share Share reduction option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
BRA ROEE KRAEHRE BRERS 2 EE Ba
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TET TET TET
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))
(FteE(a)) (M3 (b)) (Ht&E(c))
As at 1 April 2024 RZEZMFNA—A 413 963,164 112,657 9,715 (927,087) 158,862
Loss and total comprehensive AEEBERZERYBE
expense for the year - - - - (5,475) (5,475)
Lapse of share options R LR - - - (5,703) 5,703 =
As at 31 March 2025 R-ZB-EF=A=+-H 413 963,164 112,657 4,012 (926,859) 153,387
Capital Share
Share Share reduction option  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
R BiEE BRAERREE  BRERE 2EE#E ksl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TR T TET FET TET
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c))
(Fi5E(a)) (M52 (b)) (M5 (c))
As at 1 April 2023 e — S Rl = 413 963,164 112,657 9,715 (889,318) 196,631
Loss and total comprehensive AEEBERZERYEE
expense for the year - - - - (37,769) (37,769)
As at 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=A=+-H 413 963,164 112,657 9,715 (927,087) 158,862
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

,2,51-\ ’é‘ *E = @ Ej] 13,\% For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#E—F —AF=A=1+—HIFE
Notes: HyiE

(@) Share premium represents the difference between the par value of
the shares of the Company and proceeds received from the issuance
of the shares of the Company which is governed by the Cayman
Companies Law.

(b) Capital reduction reserve represents the net excess of proceeds on
reduction of share capital.

(c) Share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or
estimated number of unexercised share options granted to directors
and employee of the Group recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

(@) BOEEEARARNZEEEFITARFRD (ZFH
ERFEMRE ) ERZABFIRZEZR -

(b) BRI B 45 HIBL A AN 1O PR 45 BRIV BB h 28 9 -

(c) BWREREBEENASEEERESRHIERRME
BB ZHARITEBREZ ATE EREGFEVBRE
B3Il BE LA BRI 48 B DA B 1) RETE 2 N RER M 2 & &
BURTER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
% ’g‘ I8 ﬁ )‘)2@ = 43;:2 For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ — T -_RF=A=+—HIFE
2025 2024
—E-AF —ZmF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTEx FHET
Cash flows from operating activities KETHRERE
Loss before tax Br BRI ES 1B (5,475) (37,769)
Adjustments for: BATIHE B A
Interest income AN ON (6,114) (5,051)
Dividend income A% B U A (422) (265)
Interest expenses BN 502 422
Net realised loss on disposal of HE M ’“$@§‘|‘)\?‘5*
listed equity investments at fair value EIRARE 2B #3
through profit or loss J?EETE FEE 3,365 45,662
Net unrealised loss/(gain) on listed equity NFPEFAEREZ
investments at fair value through J: MRARIEE 2 KRR
profit or loss EiE () F8 3,185 (13,201)
Net unrealised (gain)/loss on unlisted AAFEFABEREZ
equity investments at fair value through ELETRARE 2 RER
profit or loss () /BEFE (573) 335
Net (reversal of)/provision for impairment EHEEEBEEEXN THRESRE
losses under expected credit loss model (%R /BEF5E (407) 2,728
Operating loss before working BEEEHRIMNKEEE
capital changes (5,939) (7,139)
Purchase of equity investments at BEUATEFABRSEREZBRAKRE
fair value through profit or loss (18,360) (33,881)
Proceeds from disposal of HENAFEETABEEZ
equity investments at fair value fRAIE & 2 Fr 18 5/ I18
through profit or loss 16,402 29,770
Purchase of debt investments BERBIENATECEBRE
measured at amortised cost - (18,000)
Proceed of disposal of debt investment HEREEKAFEZEBRREZ
measured at amortised cost FR18 5%18 7,500 -
Decrease in other receivables, H Y sRIE ~ T FUE RIZ € R D
prepayments and deposits 724 6,273
Increase in margin payables FETIR7E & 2 18 0 411 1,201
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and HMENRBERESER
accruals ) N (2,480) 360
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MERERER

R -~ 4

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —Z - hF=HA=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—ZE-HF e <l 71t 5
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT AT
Cash used in from operations KEXBANRS (1,742) (21,416)
Dividend received 2R 2 422 265
Interest received 2 W F B 1,145 1,100
Interest paid BEAFLE (502) (422)
Net cash used in operating activities wEEBAMNE2FE (677) (20,473)
Net decrease in cash and ReRBESEEYRDFE
cash equivalents (677) (20,473)
Cash and cash equivalents at the RMEHYVI 2R RRESEEY
beginning of the reporting period 7,112 27,585
Cash and cash equivalents REEHRZESRRSEEY
at the end of the reporting period 6,435 7,112
Analysis of balances of cash and REeERASZEYHBRDWN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances e RIRITHE 6,078 5,066
Deposits at other financial institutions REMEREE 2 TR 357 2,046
6,435 7,112




REMBHRME

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Investment and Finance Group Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 26 April 2002. The
Company’s shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from
19 September 2002. The registered office of the Company
is at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands and its principal office
in Hong Kong is at Room 1104, Crawford House, 70 Queen’s
Road Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are investment holding
and trading of securities.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Hong
Kong dollar (HK$), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)
(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2024 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Annual R rt
2024/25 a ;p"ﬁ

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ—Z - hF=HA=+—HILFE

—mRER
FEERESESRAR([ARA])RZZEE
“HEMNAZTABERESREAMK T AERR
BERAF -ARBIBRMNAE_ZSZE_FNA+IAE
BEBESHAEZHBMR AR ([HRZF]) EHe
7R A) 5E il $% 28 B2 2 7 Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1111, Cayman lIslands R EF B @M ERMUNE
BEREREFTOR KB AREIN04E-

AEBFEXBRREEBRREEES -

REMBRRUBTRE EARRZWEER
EIDE

EREEMBHRELED ([FEMBER
HER ) 2B H

(a) REFERFERZERBYBHEEER
ZAIERT A
RAFE AKECEREBELGAA
g([BEERAg)EMEN TN
FHA-ARZRRABNOANEEFEHE
BHAERZUATBBMBHRE L ZEFT
ENCE SRR e

ERHEERMEERE

BEGHEAEIR AEIBARPH

(B7I7) ERBRBEERRE
F5HR(ZT=TF)
HEEEET
BERGHENEIR  HERENERDERE
(BFIA)

TR ENETR HEPRERS
REBMBHRSE
ERHETH
(BRTA)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
,2,51-\ ’g‘ E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#E—F —AF=A=1+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS
16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year.

The amendments add subsequent measurement
requirements for sale and leaseback transactions that
satisfy the requirements of HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to be accounted for as a sale.
The amendments require a seller-lessee to determine
“lease payments” or “revised lease payments” such that
the seller-lessee would not recognise a gain or loss
that relates to the right of use retained by the seller-
lessee. The amendments also clarify that applying the
requirements does not prevent the seller-lessee from
recognising in profit or loss any gain or loss relating to
subsequent partial or full termination of a lease.

According to the transitional provisions, the Group has
applied the new accounting policy retrospectively to the
sale and leaseback transactions entered into by the
Group as the seller-lessee after the initial application of
HKFRS 16. The application of the amendments has no
material impact on the Group’s financial position and
performance.

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year.

2. ERERUMBREER (FEMBR
HERA ) 2B AR (&)

(a) REFERHERZEBMBREER

ZAERT A& (&)
BEREEMBEHEER E165E (55T F)
[ERBEHEERE Z2F&
AEBRRFEERERBRIET-

BRAETRTERTRBYBREENFE155%
[(EFamBE] ATREEARNERM
X ZMAREFERE BFREFERE
T-EEAEE HENR] S RETHE
MR - EEH-—REBATSHARET -
EHARENEREABAO RS NER £
RN EREERESTEHEE T — K
MAGCEBESTHRIABERB OB IR L
HEBBNEMKELEIE-

REBBEGR AEED B ST BEED
FEARAREREREREEYBHREE
AlE1655 RS — R B A L WERMA
ER5 BAEBETEAEENTBERR
RERBAWEEATE -

EREEBEERFIS (K7FK) [EF
PEBRERHETEREBEEESY (=
E_FEF)HBET] ([ZE=ZFFK
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)2 &

AEBERAFEEREABRER -
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily

effective for the current year (continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (continued)
The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date
for classification of liabilities as current or noncurrent,
which:

. specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the classification should not be affected
by management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months.

. clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a
transfer of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s
own equity instruments to the counterparty. If a
liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms
do not affect its classification as current or non-
current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

2. ERERUMBREER (FEMBR
EEA ) 2B A (&)

(a) REAFEERFER 2T B KRS ER
ZIBRT A (&)
EREBEEREIS (1557FK) [BE
DEBRBRHREREBEEESH (=
E_EF)HBKET ([ZE=-FFK
FTl)REBEFERFIS (1E5TF) [H
ERENHFZEEE] ([ZE=-=—F
)z E& (E)

T_TFETHIGEEEBREHRRE
EREEHRED T —EANBREHR

-
BIERBEINMES WA BELBRREHIE
e BRERE:

. ETEHE%FEﬁEAiEiHHXTEE’J%ﬂ
/\*Eﬁ/llbgﬂ&gﬁ//lbib A = 'uZ’ﬁ
BTrEXEREBET _EARNESES
BEHE R ARMTE

EBBENEBMEFHEER
%‘%’fu‘%@lﬂ % Y%ﬁ‘ﬁfﬂiﬁ’mﬂxﬁil
BETHSE - MAGBESE TR T
RS FHE Ti iﬂ?%%ﬁﬁ;ﬂiﬁ’ﬂ@ﬂﬁ
ARTHETHS EEEREATES
FFERIE32SE [T E: 25 - 1§
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date which are conditional on
the compliance with covenants, the 2022 Amendments
specifically clarify that only covenants that an entity
is required to comply with on or before the end of
the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after
the reporting date, even if compliance with the covenant
is assessed only after the reporting date. The 2022
Amendments also specify that covenants with which an
entity must comply after the reporting date (i.e. future
covenants) do not affect the classification of a liability
as current or non-current at the reporting date. However,
if the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is
subject to the entity complying with covenants within
twelve months after the reporting period, an entity
discloses information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk of the liabilities
becoming repayable within twelve months after the
reporting period. This would include information about
the covenants, the carrying amount of related liabilities
and facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the
entity may have difficulties complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the
Group has applied the new accounting policy to the
classification of liability as current or non-current
retrospectively. The application of the amendments in the
current year had no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

2. ERERUMBREER (FEMBR
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (continued)
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year.

The amendments add a disclosure objective to HKAS
7 Statement of Cash Flows stating that an entity is
required to disclose information about its supplier finance
arrangements that enables users of financial statements
to assess the effects of those arrangements on the
entity’s liabilities and cash flows.

In addition, HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
was amended to add supplier finance arrangements
as an example within the requirements to disclose
information about an entity’s exposure to concentration
of liquidity risk.

In accordance with the transition provision, the entity is
not required to disclose comparative information for any
reporting periods presented before the beginning of the
annual reporting period in the first year of application
as well as the information required by HKAS 7:44 (b)
(ii) and (b)(iii) above as at the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which the entity first applies those
amendments.

The application of the amendments in the current year
had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

2. ERERUMBREER (FEMBR
EEA ) 2B A (&)

(a) REFERHERZEBMBREER
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mEMBHRME

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issued but
not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —Z - hF=HA=+—HILFE

2. ERERUMBREER (FEMBR
EEA ) 2B A (&)

(b) CEMEEMRERZHATEBUBERS

ZARERMBREZN ZBTE
AEBYEREFEATICHMERKE
MHA BBV BEREENRBBM B R

not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards —

ERIPACTIRN

ERM B REEAFR
REBHBHREER
E75 (BFTAR)

ERMBEHREEA
F10RREEER
HERIE285% (BFTA)

EAMBREEN G
BRI (BFTA)

e TR
giEn £

Volume 113
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 3. EXREBHBRHBE

POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on the Stock Exchange and by the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for equity investments at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods or services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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REMBHRME

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not they control an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets, and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding amount at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING EXASFTHEME (F)
POLICIES (continued)

Leases He

Definition of a lease HENES

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of equipment that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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REMBHRME

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contribution to the MPF Scheme at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.

The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed in the MPF Scheme. The
Group has no forfeiture of pension scheme contributions (i.e.
contributions processed by the employer on behalf of the
employee who has exited the scheme prior to vesting of such
contributions). As at 31 March 2024, no forfeited contribution
under the pension scheme of the Group is available for
deduction of contribution payable in coming years.

LSP under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
For LSP obligations, the estimated amount of future benefit is
determined after deducting the negative service cost arising
from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF
contribution that have been vested with employees, which are
deemed to be contributions from the relevant employees.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries in the period the related service
is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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REMBHRME

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before tax’ as reported
in the profit or loss because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Annual R rt
2024/25 a ;poﬁ

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ—Z - hF=HA=+—HILFE

EREHHEME ()

Bi 1A
PR EE RN HRLIRERIAZ A8 -

EHIRMNHEREFARRVENGE - BRH
BN RBREAZW [FREAEER] TR TIh
REAMFE 2 ERBH AT MH WA H A K F
ARVAAAHR BB - AEEE HHA
BEAREARERMAREL LB RMH 2B EF

i
B o
B

BELERBRBEAVBRREERBBEZRES
BEANAERRBEMNZHERE L HZER
ERER-—RERZT AEBEEHRMARER
BERZRERLEERBEE TEEAREER
ARBE A AT AT MR E R EEE A E A
MERZREREEIRAEE WEREZEERA
VNEBBRBETHERRAVENREENZ R
FZHBEERABMELS AT RAULETE
ENBE-

111



112 China Investment and Finance Group Limited
7 OE R B E & B B R A& F
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
%éﬂji‘%iﬁ %% Bﬂ' -EI For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#E—F —AF=A=1+—HIFE

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING EAXSTHERE (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued) HIE (&)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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REMBHRME

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets at FVTPL) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived from the
Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 3. EXESFHEME (F)
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued) SRIA (&)
Financial assets (continued) HHEE (&)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial HHEEN S ERAE]E ()
assets (continued)
All other financial assets are subsequently measured at BRI BEEREUATEFABRENZ
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a MEHIERFBEEEZ B WRAKE L IEHF
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present EESRENIRBEBIRNESM B REERES
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment SREBEUFTEACEBAMHPEROALE
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment RIS E A g8 & N Al BdE & B0 H ) 2 | W s
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration FEINZBRAKREAFENHEEES-
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
A financial asset is held for trading if: HBEER TIBELRIFIEEE:
« it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling s WENFZEEMNANEHELERS X
in the near term; or
« on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of s RYEERARBRAEBAHEEND #
identified financial instruments that the Group manages e T AN —Er WABIBER
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term EHEMER 5
profit-taking; or
« it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a « WIHEREERBREHFITAMITETE-
hedging instrument.
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial b AN - 2N 2 [ A] S 0] 5500 Hh i — I8 78 R 8 AR AN
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost FIETEREZAFEFAEMEARRFTENTB
or FVOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or BENRAFEFTABRESE AliIRAEHET

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. BB AR D G
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3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (continued)

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “net unrealised loss on listed/unlisted equity
investments at FVTPL” and “net realised loss on disposal
of listed equity investment at FVTPL” line items.
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REMBHRME

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including debt
investments measured at amortised cost, other receivables
and deposits, bank balances and deposits at other financial
institutions). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

For all financial assets at amortised cost, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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REMBHRME

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).
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3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default (continued)

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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REMBHRME

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain other receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward looking macroeconomic information.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)
For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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REMBHRME

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including margin payables, other payables
and accruals are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institution, and short-term liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition.
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3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, related parties
include a person and entity as defined below:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any
of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

(ii) either entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member);

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of a third entity;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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REMBHRME

3. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any

of the following conditions applies: (continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Company or an
entity related to the Company. If the reporting entity
is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services
to the Company or the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those

family members who may be expected to influence, or be

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity

and include:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; or

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contingent assets/liabilities

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected
events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of
economic benefits to the Group and they are not recognised
in the consolidated financial statements. The Group assesses
continually the development of contingent assets. If it has
become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits
will arise, the Group recognises the asset and the related
income in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change occurs.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from
past events but is not recognised because it is not probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it
is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.
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REMBHRME

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The followings are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Classification of investments in unlisted equity
securities

Certain investments in unlisted equity securities are not
classified as an associate nor accounted for using equity
method, even though the Group owns or potentially owns
more than 20% ownership interest in those investments. In the
opinion of the directors, the Group has no significant influence
over those investments since the Group and each of the
investee entered into a relevant agreement to conclude the
followings:

—  the Group did not have any representative on the board
of directors or equivalent governing body of those
investments;

—  the Group did not participate in policy-making processes,
including participation in decisions about dividends or
other distributions; and

—  the Group did not interchange any managerial personnel
with those investments.

As the Group did not act to fulfill any one of the issues stated
above, it does not consider as having significant influence on
the investments. Hence, those investments are not considered
as the associate of the Group.
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REMBHRME

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk in measurement of
ECL

As explained in note 3, the Group monitors all financial assets
that are subject to impairment requirements to assess whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit
risk, the Company will measure the loss allowance based on
lifetime rather than 12m ECL. HKFRS 9 does not define what
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased
the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative
reasonable and supportable forward-looking information with
significant judgments involved. Information that will be taken
into account when assessing whatever there is significant
increase in credit risks are set out in “Impairment of financial
assets” in note 3 and note 6.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value measurements and valuation processes
Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value
for financial reporting purposes. The management of the
Company determines the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs for fair value measurements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Fair value measurements and valuation processes
(continued)

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
For instruments with significant unobservable inputs under
Level 3, the Group engages independent professional valuer
to perform the valuation. The management of the Company
works closely with the independent professional valuer to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model. The management of the Company reports the
valuation findings to the board of directors of the Company to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets
and liabilities.

The Group uses valuation technique that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 7 provides
detailed information about the valuation technique, inputs and
key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of
various assets and liabilities.

Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost

The directors of the Company estimate the amount of loss
allowance for ECL on financial assets at amortised cost
based on the credit risk of the respective financial instrument.
The loss allowance amount is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows with the consideration of expected
future credit loss of the respective financial instrument. The
assessment of the credit risk and therefore expected cash
flows of the respective financial instrument involves a high
degree of estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future
cash flows are less than expected or more than expected,
a material impairment charges or a material reversal of
impairment charges may arise, accordingly. The information
about the ECL on the financial assets at amortised cost are
disclosed in respective notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost
(continued)

In response to the requirements of HKFRS 9, the directors of
the Company is responsible in developing and maintaining the
processes for measuring ECL including monitoring of credit
risk, incorporation of forward looking information and the
method used to measure ECL; and ensuring that the Group
has policies and procedures in place to appropriately maintain
and validate models used to assess and measure ECL.

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group employs external valuer who use external and
internal information to generate scenario of future forecast
of relevant economic variables. The internal and external
information used includes the historical data of the Group
and economic data and forecasts published by governmental
bodies and monetary authorities respectively. Accordingly,
when measuring ECL the Group selects and uses reasonable
and supportable forward-looking information available without
undue cost or effort in its assessment, which is based on
assumptions and estimates for the future movement of
different economic drivers and how these drivers will affect
each other as well as the correlation.

Measurement of ECL

Probability of default (“PD”) constitutes a key input in
measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of
default over a given time horizon, the calculation is based
on reasonable and appropriate statistical rating models
selected by the management with judgments. These statistical
models are based on market data (where available), as
well as internal data comprising both quantitative and
qualitative factors which includes historical data, assumptions
and expectations of future conditions. The management
gathers this information and adjust the data to reflect
probability-weighted forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue cost or
effort.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of financial assets at amortised cost
(continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

Loss Given Default (‘LGD”) is an estimate of the loss
arising on default. It is based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender
would expect to receive. In assessing the lifetime ECL on
credit-impaired financial assets classified as stage 3, the
Group performs the assessment based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
specific to the debtors or borrowers, general economic
conditions and both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions with
significant judgments involved. The methodology and
assumptions used for estimating both the amount and
timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce
material differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.

Details information with regard to the exposure to credit risk
and ECLs are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors review the capital structure by considering the
cost of capital and the risks associated with capital. In view
of this, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through new shares issues as well as the issue of new debt.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. €W I A

Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

TEMIAZTE
RBEHAR SENERMTAEZEEENT:

follows:
Financial Financial
Financial assets at liabilities at
assets at amortised amortised
FVTPL cost cost Total
NATE REHESE REHRE
SFABRRER HTEZ HEZ
ZHBEE MEEE HHAE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TART TR
2025 “ECEHE
Debt investments measured at amortised cost ~ HE KRt E 2 ERRE = 41,922 = 41,922
Equity investments at FVTPL URTEFABREZREARE 106,453 - - 106,453
Other receivables and deposits Hin U FIE RiRe - 5,885 - 5,885
Cash and cash equivalents BeRReEEY = 6,435 = 6,435
106,453 54,242 - 160,695
Amount due to brokers B4 508 - - 6,629 6,629
Other payables and accruals HERRERETER - = 727 727
- - 7,356 7,356
Financial Financial
Financial assets at liabilities at
assets at amortised amortised
FVTPL cost cost Total
WATE REEKE REHRA
Ef)\??iﬁ?&?ﬁ HEZ HEZ
LHBEE HBEE HBBE @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHEL TEL FTAEL FTAEL
2024 ZE_mE
Debt investments measured at amortised cost ~ ZE R A E 2 BERIERE - 44817 L, 44,817
Equity investments at FVTPL NATEFAERRCRERE 110,472 - - 110,472
Other receivables and deposits HitEWHERES - 5,854 = 5,854
Cash and cash equivalents ReLkBe%EED - 7,112 - 7,112
110,472 57,783 - 168,255
Amount due to brokers ERELEHIE = 3 6,218 6,218
Other payables and accruals Hi B RENE A - 24 3,207 3,207
L = 9,425 9,425
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
investments at FVTPL, debt investments measured at
amortised cost, other receivables and deposits, cash and
cash equivalents, other payables and accruals, and margin
payables. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in the respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies applied by the Group to
mitigate these risks are set out below. Management monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is not exposed to significant foreign currency
risk as the all of its transactions are denominated in HKS,
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the bank balances carried at floating interest rate. The
Group currently does not have a hedge policy against the
interest rate exposure. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider the hedging significant
interest rate exposure as needed.

Sensitivity analysis

The directors consider that the Group’s exposure to interest
rate risk of bank balances, which are short term in nature, is
insignificant, accordingly no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Equity price risk

The Group’s equity price risk relates to equity price changes
arising from listed securities held for trading stated in listed
equity investments at FVPL. The Group’s listed securities held
for trading are listed on the Stock Exchange. Decisions to buy
and sell listed securities are rested with assigned investment
managers and governed by specific investment guidelines.
The Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on equity
securities operating in 3 (2024: 3) sectors quoted in the Stock
Exchange.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

If the price of the respective investments held by the Group
as listed equity investments at FVTPL were higher or lower
by 5% as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 5%), the Group’s loss for
the year ended 31 March 2025 would decrease or increase by
approximately HK$4,980,000 (2024: HK$5,210,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures
are primarily attributable to debt investments measured at
amortised cost, other receivables and deposits, bank balances
and deposits at other financial institutions. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover
its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial
assets under ECL model. Information about the Group’s credit
risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and the
related impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised
as below:

Debt investments measured at amortised cost

The Group invested in unlisted bonds issued by listed
companies in Hong Kong which exposed to credit risk.
The credit risk of debt investments is managed through an
internal process. The credit quality of each counterparty is
investigated before an advance is made. The Group also
actively monitors the outstanding amounts owed by the issuer
and uses past due information to assess whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of other receivables and deposits based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The Group actively
monitors the outstanding amounts owed by each debtor and
uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.
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mEMBHRME

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Bank balances and deposits at other financial
institutions

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit agencies. The Group
assessed 12m ECL for bank balances by reference to
information relating to probability of default and loss given
default of the respective credit rating grades published by
external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss
rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered to be
insignificant.

Credit risk for deposits at other financial institutions
is considered as not material taking into account the
good market reputations and high credit ratings of the
counterparties.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 - Z-—HAF=fA=+—HIFE

eWMIA(HF)
1= & 3 B 2 ORi B R Al ()
RITRGBRRAMEHEEH 7

mmﬁiﬁﬁﬁlmmﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁ¥&%mhg
AENEBRIFZRIT WRTESRZEER
B $E@ﬁ%ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm
HEEEARSEANELOMERBENER 7
ﬁTﬁﬁm%ZQﬂﬂﬁ%Ef%ﬁ°ﬂf$ﬂ
BREK - RITHEKRZIEARREEFERIR
R BB

REEHFHTRENTHBERSEEIFL R
HsBEBTFRINEERREER/SLTEKN

AEBNABEERBRFRFHEEATER:

Internal Financial assets

credit rating Description at amortised cost
REBERATEN

AEMEEFTR it MBEE

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have 12m ECL

any past-due amounts

1K = bz HFEANENRBEE  WEEAEPEE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle in full
BuELs BEHRARERINPREBEN BRE2HENE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since
initial recognition through information developed internally
or external resources
7 &t BAABIINBERGHNER - TR B VS ERBARGEERREZIEMN
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired
BE EREBEXPAZEECHREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial

1 55

difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery

BRBRPEBSARREEO MR LA KB EEROKE 5 R

12 AFEHEEEE

12m ECL
12 ABHEERR

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired

EHRHAEEEE-
BEERME

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired

>HEREEEE -
BEERIE

Amount is written off

et
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. TWMIE(E)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued) FEERBREENS (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TRFINAEBEETEREEBERIHNT B
the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL BEMEERR :
assessment:
2025 2024
—E-HE —E-ME
Gross Gross
External Internal carrying Loss carrying Loss
credit rating  credit rating  12m or lifetime ECL amount allowance amount  allowance
128528
HBEETR AHEETR RUGEFE REAE FEEFE REOLE HFEEG

HK$’000 HK$’000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR

Financial assets at amortised cost

REHRATENMBEE
Debt investments measured N/A Low risk 12m ECL
at amortised cost 51,195 9,273 54,468 9,651
RERRAHECEBRE A gz 12(8 A EEEE
Other receivables and deposits N/A Low risk 12m ECL 27 - 25 -
HibEWRER RS A g NREAEREEER
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL
- not credit-impaired 19,726 13,868 19,726 13,897
el R PHENEERR
-EEERE
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL
- credit-impaired 300 300 300 300
A Bx PHENEERR
—fEERE
Bank balances A2 or above N/A 12m ECL 6,078 - 5,066 -
|ITHEH A5 A TEA 12(8 A EEEE
Deposits at other financial institutions N/A Low risk 12m ECL 357 - 2,046 -

REBEBEENTR TEm (R REARSEEER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —Z - hF=HA=+—HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances

6. 2WMIA (&)
FEERRREENL (&)
TRINFERZBHKNATEZHGEEER

that has been recognised for financial assets measured at BIERE 2K
amortised cost:
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12m ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL Total
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
B B B B2 P& Ex3
128 BH 2HES 2HRES
FEEBR FEEBR FEER @it
(BREERME) (FERE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THER THET
As at 1 April 2023 RZE-_=FMNA—H 6,705 14,115 300 21,120
Changes due to financial instruments recognised: CHAEGBHIAEL &
Transfer to lifetime ECL BREXNEHEESE (786) 786 - -
Impairment losses recognised ERAMEERE 3,732 - - 3,732
Impairment losses reversal BEBERE - (1,004) - (1,004)
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZEZWFE=A=+—HR
“E-NENA—H 9,651 13,897 300 23,848
Changes due to financial instruments recognised: EHRRSBIAEL 7 &
Impairment losses reversal AEBEEE (378) (29) - (407)
As at 31 March 2025 R-Z-_H5F¥=A=t+-H 9,273 13,868 300 23,441
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. €I HE(HE)

Liquidity risk REBESERE

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group are unable to meet RBECRBRIERAEERY KA E D B Rk

their payment obligations associated with its financial THEMKEBERENRETZRAR KNEBESE

liabilities when they fall due. The Group manages liquidity risk BERTEZRBEARBEERReREEAR

by maintaining adequate reserves, as well as continuously ERFenNEERRHDESEMR -

monitoring cash flow forecast and actual cash flows.

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and HERREE S R i ?'$%lﬂgfi<ﬁﬁﬁé‘c\

maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents that is CEMEEMMEFREEERRBREMZKE-

adequate in management discretion. In formulating their EEEE%ET%WEH#%FE$E@*“%—fﬁé@ﬁZmﬂﬁ

strategy, management would consider the financing of the L}(&i“_‘%xﬁiﬂ&?xézfﬁﬁmgz/&@w’

Group’s operations and the effects of fluctuation in operating —E-RAE=A=+—H && lZum@JéﬁE

and investing cash flows. As at 31 March 2025, the liquidity ZHURREE R HEFENKCE EHMANRERE

MEEEEIMRERREBRARERE

RIS
adequate cash flows from operations and to raise funds BETREBEFRHETEE

of the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain

through issue and allotment of new shares to meet its debt
obligations and investment project opportunities as they fall

due or arise.

The remaining contractual maturities at the end of the AEBEMBAERRERRZBT AL —
reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities, which are FAIRERKEE(ZZ_WNE: —FRAHRK
based on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the earliest ERRER) (REAORURBEERERLTE
date that the Group can be required to pay, are within one BEEXNFE &FHBRAE) -

year or on demand (2024: within one year or on demand).
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —Z - hF=HA=+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 7. AF¥EFTE

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i)
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had following

financial instruments carried at fair value all of which

are based on the Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair

value hierarchy:

DNEEERUAFENEZREEHNK
EEATE

R-ZEBE-_RAER_FT-_ME=A=+—8"
AEEELN TS T E HEAFEBHF
BZE R B_EREZRURNFEANE:

2025 2024
—E-HF —ZmEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Level 1: B
Financial assets at FVTPL AT EFABRECVBEE
— listed equity investments — EFRAIEE 99,604 104,196
Level 3: E=M:
Financial assets at FVTPL NATFEFABERZHBEE
— unlisted equity investments —JEETRAEKE 6,849 6,276
106,453 110,472

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of
the event or change in circumstances that caused the

transfer.

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives information
about how the fair values of these financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

AEBZBRRBEEMHHLEE ARSI
BREERAEHEARIZ=_ERINZEA
AN -

REBETUKEELRVBERETDUE R
EHRRZ A FEFE TREIBEZEH
BEERVBEBEZATENAESE (A
& AEAGERTRBARE) ZEH-
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HEPFF EMRAREN A FER K

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. AF¥EFTE (&)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) AEEERUAFEFEZAEBUK
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis BEEAFYE (&)
(continued)
Relationship of
Fair value  Valuation Significant unobservable
Financial assets 2025 2024 hierarchy  technique(s) unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
FABR
Y| BAgER
HBEE ZECRE CECoME AVEER  GERG BE@HE NYEZBE
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TR
Unlisted equity investments 6,849 6,276 Level 3 Discount cash flow with future cash  Discount rate for lack  The higher of the
classified as equity flows that are estimated based on of marketability discount rate, the
investments at FVTPL expected recoverable amounts, lower of the fair value,
discounted at rates that reflect vice versa
management’s best estimation of
the expected risk level
AERUARTEFABRE 6,849 6,276 £=1 ARAERERERPTNEEE  BIOHRBLEZE  FEEEA 2TE
RARE 2 EHRARE EANHERRERE  DRRB Ed B RZHR
ERBHRARRKT 251
Cayd#dit
Listed equity investment 99,604 104,196 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active N/A N/A
classified as equity market
investments at FVTPL
PRRNATEHABRR 99,604 104,196 £—# ERMZEAR TR @R
ZBAREZ FRRARE

In estimating the fair value of unlisted equity
investments, the management of the Company work
closely with International Valuation Limited to establish
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The management of the Company reports the
findings to the directors at the end of each reporting
period to explain the cause of fluctuations in fair value.

The discount rate for lack of marketability was 20.4%
(2024: 20.5%), representing a significant unobservable
input. A 5% increase or decrease in the discount rate
would result in a corresponding increase or decrease in
the loss of HK$88,000 (2024: HK$81,000).

2 ERBERF AR BT 60E
EHERMEZRA 28 ABE - K
BENERENRAEFERFFER N
REATERDZRA-

I
Kt
(et

RemMBRABMEZINEERE204% (ZF
ZIHF:205%)  REATAEBREAH
Botmm =g Mkm 5% %8 HEEM
JE 15 hn =k % 488,000/ T ( = F — /4 4 ¢
81,0007 7T ) °
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. A¥EE (&)
(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that (i) AEEERUAFEFEZAEBUK
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis BEEAFYE (&)
(continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements BEZRAFEAEHRE

Unlisted equity
securities
classified
as equity

investments at

FVTPL
PEAUDFE
FTABREEZ
BAEREZ
FELEHRARS
HK$’000
FHET
As at 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FWMA—H 6,611
Net unrealised loss on unlisted equity AR EFABREZELTRARE Z
investments at FVTPL REREEFRE (335)
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZEZNF=A=+—HBEZZT-_MFNYA—H 6,276
Net unrealised gain on unlisted equity NAFEFABREZIFELTRARE 2
investments at FVTPL RER W FR 573
As at 31 March 2025 R-ZE-RFE=HA=+—H 6,849
Of net unrealised loss on unlisted equity investments at RUARFEFABESEZIELTRAKRE
FVTPL, all (2024: all) relates to unlisted equity securities ZARBEHEBFEY 2B (2T _WF:
classified as equity investments at FVTPL held at the 2H)IHEAREHARFBENIERULQT
end of the current reporting period. Bt \BER2BRAETE 2 ETRAE

B8
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ—Z - hF=HA=+—HILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 7. AVEE(R)

(ii) Fair values of financial instruments carried at

other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets

and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost are not

materially different from their fair values as at 31 March
2025 and 2024 due to their short-term maturities.

8. REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

£ &

(i) YFRAAFEFEZERTIRAZATVE

RIB-RAFR-_B-_NF=A=+—H
VA8 35 B 7R 21 R 10 7R &2 [ B 7 B B S U 7%
BEZEAEREAFERESKER &

FE5 52 B 2 5 -

8. Wz

AEBZWEDFTWT

2025 2024
—E-HE —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTExT FHET
Revenue: s -

Dividend income from equity investments LA AFEFABEERZBEAKE

at FVTPL Z BB A 422 265
Interest income from debt investments REHKATNEZEBRREZ

at amortised cost B U A 5,372 3,702
Interest income from other receivables o fEWORIE 2 B E WA 742 1,349
Interest income from brokers [E NN 1 1
Interest income from bank accounts IRITERZ M B WA 1 1
6,538 5,318
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10.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group’s
revenue and results were mainly derived from the interest
income and dividend income from investment holding. The
executive director, being the chief operation decision maker,
considers that these activities constitute one and the only
business segment since these transactions are subject to
common risks and returns. The executive directors monitors
the operating results of its investment business as a whole
for the purpose of making decision about resource allocation
and performance assessment. Given the nature of the
Group’s business was operated as a single segment, it is
not considered meaningful to provide an operating segment
analysis of financial performance.

Accordingly, only entity-wide disclosure, major customers and
geographical information are presented.

Geographical information

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, all activities
of the Group are based in Hong Kong and all of the Group’s
revenue was derived from Hong Kong. Accordingly, no
geographical analysis of revenue and assets is presented.

Information about major customers

Given that the nature of the Group’s operation is investment
holding, there was no information regarding major customers
as determined by the Group.

NET (REVERSAL OF)/PROVISION FOR
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED
CREDIT LOSS MODEL

10.

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 - Z-—HAF=fA=+—HIFE

7

BEHR
BE_ T RAFR_T_NF=A=+—HBIF
B -AEBEEREETERARERRZME
WARBEWA - MITER (NERLERRK %)

0

RR ARZERXZAZ AR E R EE R FH it
ZERHEXNE MR -—RBOH -MITESE

REBBREXBIEEXENERERDER
RAFEFELERE - ERAEELEE —DFH
EBUE BAMBRRIEREEIHEOTES
TR

Hit Z27ERFE T2EPRIBEEHR -

thEE R
RBEE—Z-_AFR-_ZT-_NF=A=+—HIE
FE - AEBEMBEBANREBET MAEE
ZHRERETEAEE Rt ME27KER
BEMMESTELR -

ERTEEFNESR
ERAEERLEBHENREER BAEHE
BE ARBEYERBIERFPNER -

AHMEEFREXTHRERSE (&
E) EERE

2025 2024
—E-RHF —T_-_WEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET

Net (reversal of)/provision for impairment UTHEBEEREEBEEXTHREE

losses under expected credit loss model on: 8 (BE) BEFE:
— Other receivables — H fth fE W R IE (29) (1,004)
— Debt investments measured —hz%ﬁﬁﬁ%zliﬁzz

at amortised costs EBHE (378) 3,732
(407) 2,728

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6.

BB RS BRI L6 ©
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11. LOSS BEFORE TAX 1. REATER

2025 2024
—E_RE —EPUF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FETT
Loss before tax has been arrived at BB AT ET IR TSR
after charging/crediting: ITIEE&EH:
Directors’ remunerations EEME
— Fees —as 975 1,020
— Basic salaries and other benefits —EAHFe MEMEN - -
— Retirement benefits scheme —iRIREFIET &I - -
— Equity-settled share-based payments —AREEEURD BER Z AR - -
Total directors’ remunerations BEE 975 1,020
Staff costs B TRA
— Basic salaries and other benefits —HEAHeREMBEF 416 675
— Equity-settled share-based payments —UREEEARD BER AR - -
— Retirement benefits scheme —iRIREFIET S 16 19
Total staff costs 8 TR
(excluding directors’ remunerations) (TEEEFHE) 432 694
Auditor’s remuneration % 8 EM B &
— audit services —EBZRS 432 480
— other services — H M AR 7% 48 =
480 480
Investment manager fee WERIEER 366 720
Expenses related to short-term lease EHEEEBERX 90 90
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12.

13.

FINANCE COSTS

\/|
/

Interest on margin financing wholly %

i
L
i N

e
m;
i

S0

=103
kj

repayable on demand

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —Z - hF=HA=+—HILFE

12. @E KA
2025 2024
—EC-REFE —E 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
502 422

INCOME TAX CREDIT

No provision for the Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Group either incurred tax loss or has no assessable profit
for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of
Hong Kong Profits Tax as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

13. FiIBSHER

HE_ZT-_AFE-_FT-_NF=ZA=+—HIF
B BARASEYEELEHEEETERGRER
Foad MW EEHEEFNSRHEE-

REEBFEHZFEHMAS FEARNE
& %8 52,000,000 7T 89 5 FIl 89 B & 58.25%
i i 82,000,000 7T & 4 F1| 89 7t % 516.5% © T
FENESHMAFNERNEEER SR GEER
B — B R16.5% B4 »

EXERRERBTANEHR ZMNEHMARHIL &
CEREREMBRRYEEABRE MEFE
M E B NS R AR ERTUE N 216.5% & -
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13.

14.

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —Z-—HAF=fF=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 13. FiBBiE R (&)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss FEHFBBZHARAAARREN B AR GEMAA
before tax using the statutory tax rate for the Hong Kong T4 BB RSB 2 04 E B3 B R B A1 & 18 49 AR a0
Profits Tax in which the Company and its subsidiaries are T~
domiciled is as follows:
2025 2024
—E_RE T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Loss before tax W 154 i s 18 (5,475) (37,769)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEBERAE 2TIA (903) (6,232)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR MBI A 2 B2
for tax purposes 903 3,113
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBTWAZRBZE (591) (3,798)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBBBEZMBTE 591 6,917

FERBEER

Tax credit for the year

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$501,483,652 (2024:
HK$513,353,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such
losses for both years due to the unpredictability of future
profits streams. All unrecognised tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2024: nil).

14.

REHR  NEBBEBTEERIAET 2 XS
BB 1B 4 A501,483,652/8 T (T 14 :
513,353,000/ 7T ) © M 78 AR 2K K A TE A
MU ERZMEFENERAEERERELHEE
B A RERBBEIB A SR HE L

iR

BHE_ T RAF=A=1+—HILFE TERAX
RAEBRBERRNHEZZRMNRS  BHREH
REMEZZRNEMRE (ZF_HF: &) -
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15.

16.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share was
based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company
of HK$5,475,000 (2024: HK$37,769,000) and the weighted
average number of 412,596,600 (2024: 412,596,600) ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to S.383 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) and the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation (Cap.622G) is as follows:

15.

16.

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 - Z-—HAF=fA=+—HIFE

BREE
BRERREERIENREAAR A ABIEE
185,475,000/ 7T ( == Z U 4F : 37,769,000/ 7T )
R 7R 2 B 817 E R AR R T 15 20412,596,600
B (== — P04 : 412,596,600/% ) 57t &

EEnTEBaHEENS
REEERAGH(ERB-T-28)5
ZENTZBERAR (REEENAER) R
(FRNBZTZGE)BBEZEFHHMM T

(a) Directors (a) E=E
The aggregate amounts of emoluments payable by the EFEEARARAIERN M ETOT
Company during the years are as follows:
2025 2024
—E_RE —ENEF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FERT FETT
Fees Ziea
Executive director HITES 360 360
Non-executive directors FEBMITES 255 300
Independent non-executive directors B IEHITEE 360 360
975 1,020
Other emoluments E i &
Basic salaries and other benefits EAXRFE R HMEF - -
Equity-settled share-based AR IEEE AR D AERE 2T
payments - _
Retirement benefits scheme BRREF E 2 - =
975 1,020

No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
and no emoluments were paid to the directors as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the year (2024: nil).

FALTBESREXRABERETAMME - 75
BEREEXNMSIARSIBEMBREE
HIERMBER - REHBBMHE (T -0
F|E)
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16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors (continued)

2024/25 Annual Report

£ &

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ—Z - hF=HA=+—HILFE

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six (2024:

16. EERTEBEHEEME (&)

(a) E= (&)

BENSRENTAE(ZE_MOF: NE8)ES

six) directors are as follows: EBEZHE0T:
2025 2024
—E-RE TN
Basic
salaries  Equity-settled  Retirement
and other  share-based benefits Total Total
Fees benefits payments scheme ~ emoluments  emoluments
NkEEE
EXHe  NURHAR RAR
e REMERN WzAH  BHEHE Heam Hews
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAL FAT TERT FAT
Executive director HITEE
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee BREZEAE 360 - - - 360 360
Non-executive directors FUTES
Mr. Wu Qi RERHE 120 - - - 120 120
Mr. Fong On Shek FRARE
(Deceased on 17 December 2024) (R=Z-m#
+Z ATt Rt 135 - - - 135 180
Sub-total it 255 - - - 255 300
Independent non-executive directors BY¥HITES
Mr. Luk Simon ERzEAE 120 - - - 140 120
Ms. Liu Xiaoyin ZER T 120 - - - 120 120
Mr. Hon Leung Bk 120 - - - 120 120
Sub-total et 360 - - - 360 360
Total B8 975 - - - 975 1,020
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16. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors (continued)
Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for
the executive director are generally emoluments paid or
receivable in respect of those persons’ other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

(b) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2024: two) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments of the remaining two
(2024 three) individuals were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 - Z-—HAF=fA=+—HIFE

16. EERTEBEHEEME (&)

(a) E= (&)
XNFRTEEZH S RMNEVDNER
REZEATREEEARARAREME QA
ZEBER 2 EAMIRG M — RS R EW
ZME -

(b) EEBREHESR
AEELE&EmHEEFT 2 (TN
FMB)ARRABES HS 2 HMN Lt
AWM -HBME(ZTZWF - =F)AAZ
BT

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Basic salaries and other benefits EAXFE RHMEF 320 579
Retirements benefits scheme ROKAEFI T2 16 19
Equity-settled share-based payments LA #E 4 E LA D AEMR 2 3 - -
336 598

The number of the highest paid individuals whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £%1,000,0007% 7T

URTIMeHE s RS HESABLT

2025 2024
—E-RE —EMEF
2 3

No emoluments were paid to these individuals as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office for the year (2024: Nil).

RAF[Z - I 8 A 5% 5 B A SN B 2 PA TR 3
BEMBARAEBERFERMBER 2 RS KB
BRE( T _mE &) -
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 17. LAFEFABRERZBREARE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2025 2024
—E_RE T OF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Non-current IE T E
Unlisted equity investments outside BERINZIELMRAIRE
Hong Kong 6,849 6,276
Current RE
Listed equity investments in Hong Kong BB ETRAKE 99,604 104,196
106,453 110,472

The fair values of these listed securities are determined
based on the quoted market bid prices at the end of each
reporting period. The Group has pledged certain financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss with carrying amount
of approximately HK$13,174,000 as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$9,066,000) to secure margin payables as disclosed in
note 22.

As at 31 March 2025, the net fair value loss in respect of the
Group’s Hong Kong listed investments recognised in profit
or loss amounted to approximately HK$3,185,000 (2024:
gain of HK$13,201,000), and a net loss of approximately
HK$3,365,000 (2024: net loss of HK$45,662,000) was
recognised upon disposal of the listed equity investments for
the year.

The market value of the Group’s listed equity investments
at the date of approval of these financial statements was
approximately HK$100,258,000.

ZELMEFZ2AFEDERSERSEHARZH
HMBEAEET - B E22BE A&
BN T _AF=A=1+—"BZEHEEHY
13,174,000 7T (== Z M £ : 9,066,000/ 7T )
ZETURAFESABREZ B EEERT
ERERRER 2T -

RZEZRAF=ZA=Z+—B RXEERER
EEMZ? ETMREZATFEBRIELNA
3,185,000/ 7t (== — U F : £ 13,201,000
B) RREANHEETRAREEERER
JH 43,365,000 L (ZE_WF: BHEFHE
45,662,000/ 7T) °

Rt EZEMBRR A AEEZ EHRA
® & 2 M {E#4)73100,258,000/% T °
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 17. AR FEFABZEZRARE (&)
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
Details of principal unlisted equity securities held by the AREEMFZEEZFLTRAEZS (DI AKXE
Group which are also included in the list of the 10 largest ER_Z_AFR_ZT-_MNF=RA=+—H2Z10
investments of the Group as at 31 March 2025 and 2024, as HEAKE (K19 #HE) ) 2 15m T

disclosed in note 19, are as follows:

Place/country of Percentage of Net assets
Name of investee incorporation/ effective attributable to
companies establishment Number of share held interest held At cost Fair value adjustment At fair value the investments
L/
EREDNTIER RutY/ B3R FERH#A FEEREZEAM RHA APERE RATE REBEEERE

2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
CEDRE -E-QmE CZBCREE CTCQME ZECRE CTOME ZBCEE CEoNF CBCRE CS-MF ZBIREE CECME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000

TR AL T iR Tin AL Tin ThnL

Prominent Alliance Limited ~ British Virgin Islands 28,000 28,000 2% 28% 20,000 20,000 13,151 13,724 6,849 6,276 8,605 8,028
(note a)

Prominent Alliance Limited ~ XBRRZEE
(Wita)

Notes: Miat -

(a) Prominent Alliance Limited (“Prominent Alliance”), a private (a) Prominent Alliance Limited ([Prominent
Company with limited liability, and its subsidiaries are principally Alliance ] - —RILABREERR) REAME R FR]
engaged in dealing in securities, advising on securities and asset FEREBFXG BBFREELRRHEEE
management. As disclosed in note 4, the Group has not been in IR o AN EEAFT HE BR - AN B I £ ¥ Prominent
a position to exercise any significant influence over the financial Alliance BB 15 RS & R TEEMERT L -
and operating policies of Prominent Alliance. Accordingly, Itk » 7 Prominent Alliance Z & E D AU RAF
investment in Prominent Alliance has been classified as financial Bt NERBEZMBEEE-

asset at FVTPL.
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 17. U AFEFABRRZREERE (&)
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
Details of principal listed equity securities held by the Group RZEZRAF=ZA=+—RH AEEFAHEE
as at 31 March 2025, which are also included in the list of the ERABSR (MIALEER_T_AF=A
10 largest investments of the Group as at 31 March 2025, as =T —HZ10EHAKRE (MOHMF19FHKE) ) &+
disclosed in note 19, are as follow: R UNNE
Percentage
of carrying
amount of
Accumulated investment to
unrealised Net assets/ Dividend the Company’s
holding gain (liabilities) received/ total assets as
Place/country of Number of  Percentage of (loss) arising attributable to receivable at the end of
Name of investee company incorporation shares held interest held Cost on revaluation ~ Market value the investment during the year  the reporting
REEHR
EffNELL REREER
EHES &) RERHE ARH
ERRLBE/ ligs2 $3 KR BE/(8R) FRBY/  EEEEN
ERENTER GES FERBEE Aot A (5#8) mfE BE EURE Bot
'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tk TR TR TERL TEL T
Wis Holdings Limited (note b) Bermuda 549,610 3.83% 79,170 (57,735) 21,435 15,893 - 13.33%
EEZRERLE (M) BEE
Minerva Group Holding Limited (note ¢) Bermuda 120,010 4.79% 38,437 (29,556) 8,881 54,172 - 5.52%
BEEERERAR (M) BRE
China Jicheng Holdings Limited (nofe @)~ Cayman Islands 9,203 2.23% 19,600 (11,226) 8,374 5,609 - 5.21%
HEERERERAF (Hid) FHEES
Hao Wen Holdings Limited (nofe ¢ Cayman Islands 15,232 4.28% 5497 1,510 7,007 13,193 - 4.36%
BXRRERLE (Hie) RERE
Hsbc Holdings Plc (nofe f) England 58 0.01% 3431 1,717 5,148 4,915 374 3.20%
EERRERLE (i) AR
Dufu Liguor Group Limited (Formerly Bermuda 59,224 4.51% 5,922 (1,836) 4,086 15,791 - 2.54%
Known As China Environmental Energy
Investment Limited) (nofe g)
HERZEEARAR (MBTERR BRE
RRREBRAR) (Witg)
Kingland Group Holdings Limited (nofe /)~ Cayman Islands 9,528 3.94% 5,655 (1,749) 3,906 941 - 243%
REEERRARLRR (Fith) RERE
Microware Group Limited (note /) Cayman Islands 2,852 0.95% 3,803 (67) 3,736 1,818 = 2.32%
FRUSEERRA (W) FHEES
Milan Station Holdings Limited (note /) Cayman Islands 34,836 3.30% 9,651 (6,028) 3,623 2,381 - 2.25%
KEUERERAR (M) RERE
China 33 Media Group Limited (nofe k) Cayman Islands 5,589 5.18% 46,676 (43,267) 3,409 1,572 = 2.12%

HEZZERERARAF (i) REkE
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes:

A brief description of the business and financial information of the

listed investee companies, based on their latest published annual

report are as follows:

(b)

(d)

WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS”) is incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability and its shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (Stock code: 8021). WLS is principally engaged
in the provision of scaffolding, fitting out and other auxiliary
services for construction and buildings work, money lending
business and securities investment business. For the year
ended 30 April 2024, the audited consolidated loss attributable
to owners of WLS was HK$11,147,000 with basic and diluted
loss per share of HK0.078 cents. As at 31 October 2024, its
unaudited consolidated net assets attributable to owners was
HK$415,443,000.

Minerva Group Holding Limited (“Minerva Group”) incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on Stock Exchange (Stock code: 397).
Minerva Group is principally engaged in financial services,
asset management and investment and money lending. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of Minerva Group was HK$143,918,000
with basic and diluted loss per share of HK5.74 cents. As at 31
December 2024, its audited consolidated net assets attributable
to owners was HK$1,130,877,000.

China Jicheng Holdings Limited (“China Jicheng”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares have been listed in the Stock
1027). China
Jicheng is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sale

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code:

of POE umbrellas, nylon umbrellas and umbrella parts such as
plastic cloth and shaft. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the audited consolidated profit attributable to owners of China
Jicheng was RMB10,879,000 (equivalent to HK$11,791,000)
with basic and diluted profit per share of RMB2.64 cents
(equivalent to HK2.86 cents). As at 31 December 2024, its
audited consolidated net assets attributable to owners was
RMB251,449,000 (equivalent to HK$267,613,000).

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{Z= —& —

hE=ZA=t—BLFE

17. AR FEFABERRZBRARE (&)

Wiat:

RIBEHAERE LT ARBORTEZFR ZF QA
ZEBRBBEERBEET

ERERAERAR(EER]RE2S Ei%*zﬂﬂﬁk
VA—HERERTREREGFEZARAA

& 19 P Bt 22 FT GEM 70 (IR 15 1R 5%  8021) < JE[E
TEREAREDBRETRREMERR BE
BEREAMEHRE HMEEBRIEFREED-
HE-Z-_NFHWA=+BILFE EREAA
R EZRGAEIEA11,147,0008 T SR E
RNy #ERIEA0.078BI - R - -W&FE+ A
—t—H HBEABABRERECERREEETE
5415,443,0007% 7T °

BEBRZERARLAR ((REB])REREFMK
U RERRAERAR ERONBER LW (RH
REE:397) BEEFZNESAMRY EEER
EEENERRE - BHE-_T_WFF+_A=+—
AIEFE BEEEREABRLEEZGEAERA
143,918,000/ 7T & AR F 7N & # 5% 5 18 /25.747%8
WeRR =T ZNFE+=—RB=+—H H#EHAEIE
LEZ ARG B EF(E/1,130,877,000/8 7T

PEEKRERER AR (THEENK])RASEH

SFAMKIAEREER QA HRMHRNE B
ERXRGHARAR LT (RHRIE:1027) - H H
EREEWERERMEPOERE - EERE K
MATHH WEHARPE-BE_T_NF
+ZA=+—RLEFE FEERZERTAENL
KEZZA BN A ARYE10,879,0007T (16 E R
11,791,000 70) BRERAREFHEFI AAR
#2.640 (FHE R2.867 M)  RZTZMF+=
A=+—R HBEAELCERGEEEFE
A AR %251,449,0007T (1 & 74 267,613,000/%
L) e
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(e)

Hao Wen Holdings Limited (“‘Hao Wen”) incorporated in Cayman
Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 8019). It
is principally engaged in the money lending, processing and
trading of electronic parts, provision of beauty treatment services
and sales of burial plots and related services and cemetery
maintenance services. For the year ended 31 December 2024,
the audited consolidated loss attributable to owners of Hao Wen
was RMB8,363,000 (equivalent to HK$9,064,000) with basic and
diluted loss per share of RMB2.35 cents (equivalent to HK2.55
cents). As at 31 December 2024, its audited consolidated net
assets attributable to owners was RMB289,795,000 (equivalent
to HK$308,424,000).

HSBC Holdings plc (*HSBC”) incorporated in England with
limited liability and its shares are listed on Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 5). HSBC is the banking and
financial services company. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the audited consolidated profit attributable to ordinary
shareholders of HSBC was US$22,917,000,000 with basic and
diluted profit per share of US$1.25 and US$1.24 respectively.
As at 31 December 2024, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to owners was US$184,973,000,000.

Dufu Liquor Group Limited (Formerly Known As China
Environmental Energy Investment Limited) (“Dufu”) incorporated
in Bermuda with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 986). It is
principally engaged in the design and marketing of jewelry and
money lending. For the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the
audited consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of Dufu
was HK$34,560,000 with basis loss per share of HK1.43 cents.
As at 30 September 2024, its unaudited consolidated net assets
attributable to the equity holder was HK$345,200,000.

Kingland Group Holdings Limited (“Kingland”) incorporated in
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on Stock Exchange (Stock code: 1751).
Kingland is principally engaged in the provision of concrete
demolition services in Hong Kong and Macau mainly as a
subcontractor. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
audited consolidated profit attributable to owners of Kingland
was HK$495,000 with basic and diluted loss per share of HK0.20
cents. As at 31 December 2024, its audited consolidated net
assets attributable to owners was HK$23,880,000.

(e)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BiZ—Z - hF=HA=+—HILFE

17. AR FEFABERRZBRARE (&)

Wizt (%)

X ERAERAR ([MEXX])RASESTMAL
BAERAD ERNREBHEXSMARA A
E(RHRS%:8019) c EFBRERE BEFE
HBEMIRES RHEDTEERBRIEEEH
REAREAREEGERS HE-_S_NUF
TZA=Z+—BHLLFE BXIEEABELESEX
A EIE A ARMS,363,0007T (18 E 79,064,000
Br) BREARBEEERAARYE2355 (M
g 2558 M) R-_FE-—ME+-_/F=+—
A EBAABERERGEEEFERARE
289,795,0007T (0% 74308,424,000% 7T ) °

ELERARAR (DEL) REEEEMmALA
BRAR-EBRHREBHBAERSMBERARA L
mRHARE:5) ELARITRESRMBIE AR
BE_T_NWE+_-_A=+-—HULEE ELE
AR LB ZLR A R T A22,917,000,000%
TL - BRREAR R #E R M 9 R R1.25% 7T Rk 1.245%
ToR-_E-_WE+-—A=+—0 EHBAENL
MEIZIR A A EF1E5184,973,000,000% 7T

HEBEEERRAR (FIBRERRERIRE
FRAR) (HEDREREFMAIABRRD
AEROREBHERSHMERAR LW (RH
R55:986) HEZHEHREZRA RIS E N
NERE - BHE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HLHK
FE HEZEZRBEARLEEXEAERA
34,560,000 7T - BREREE H1.438 -5 =
Z_NFNA=Z+TH HEZHFBEABGERER
%456 & EF {E £345,200,000/% 7T

SHEEERERAR ([SH])RASHESEM
B ABEREARAR ERGORER A LW (AR
MR :1751) BB EBREEZEAD BEARN
EAERRMREREERERELTFRIRS HE2-_F -1
F+ZA=+—"BLEFE SHEEABGHLER
%47 A i 7 £495,000%8 7T - FRRE AR R #E E 18
RO20B I -RZT_MNE+_A=1+—H H#%
BARIGEEZGE EEF1E/323,880,000%4 7T ©
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17. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

U]

Microware Group Limited (“Microware”) incorporated in Cayman
Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 1985). It is
principally engaged in the provision of information technology
infrastructure solution services and IT managed services in Hong
Kong. For the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of Microware
was HK$36,228,000 with basis loss per share of HK0.12 cents.
As at 30 September 2024, its unaudited consolidated net assets
attributable to the equity holder was HK$191,254,000.

Milan Station Holdings Limited (“Milan”) incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed
on Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code: 1150).
Milan is principally engaged in retailing of handbags, fashion
accessories and embellishments operation. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the audited consolidated loss attributable
to owners of Milan was HK$26,319,000 with basic and diluted
loss per share of HK$2.74 cents. As at 31 December 2024,
its audited consolidated net assets attributable to owners was
HK$72,236,000.

China 33 Media Group Limited (“China 33 Media”) incorporated
in Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code:
8087). It is principally engaged in the provision of management
services, prepaid card business, film and entertainment
investment, provision of consulting services, and provision of
advertising services. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
audited consolidated loss attributable to owners of Hao Wen was
RMB23,085,000 (equivalent to HK$25,020,000) with basic and
diluted loss per share of RMB53.44 cents (equivalent to HK57.92
cents). As at 31 December 2024, its audited consolidated net
assets attributable to owners was RMB30,370,000 (equivalent to
HK$32,322,000).

U]

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 —Z - hF=HA=+—HILFE

17. AR FEFABERRZBRARE (&)

Wizt (%)

e sEEAaRAA ([EaE3l ) AHERET
BRI ABERAG HROHRESBERIMA
AR L™ (B ARSE:1985) - X EREFHK
FREEAMNEEERATERE R EARKE
BRE - BE2-_FT-_NF-A=-T—BLEHESF
E EeBrsEEREARGEEREA R A
36,228,000/ 7T TR E A R EEEE £0.12%8
WeR=—T-—MFENA=Z+H EEXHE ARG
RIS T IR A B EFER191,254,000% 7T

K EBRARAR (KM RFESHBEMK
URBRAF EEONBEEBAEXZMARRD
Al L (B FHR 1150) < KB ET BN EF & B
HEHLEKORTEXT - BE_F _MNF+=
A=+ -HLFE KHAEBARGEEZERS
518 7526,319,000/8 70 B E AR HEBES
2748 -R_F_WE+_A=+—"H HEHF
NS E SRR B EFERT2,236,000/8 7T ©

PR ZEEEEARAA([FE==Z])RAH
SEHSAMALABERAR HBRHRESE S
REMARAR L™ (KGR :8087) - H*x
ENERETERE BN FES B RRYE
BRE RBHBEMBRERERESRE BHE-F
—HFE+ZAZ+—BLEFE REZZHAA
JEIEEE 2R A BB R/ ARK23,085,0007T (18
®1425,020,0008 7T)  FRERREFEEEARA
R#53.445 (FHEME7.9278 ) - R =T ZWF
TZA=t+—H HEBABRLEERGREAEE
8B AR30,370,0007T (6% 732,322,000/
TT) e
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18. DEBT INVESTMENTS MEASURED AT 18. REBERATFTEZEERE
AMORTISED COST
2025 2024
—E-EHF —ENEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Unlisted debts securities (note) ELETMEBES (M) 46,000 51,440
Interest receivables UL F B 5,195 3,028
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (9,273) (9,651)
41,922 44 817
Analysed as: DR
Current T E 26,114 11,972
Non-current e ED 15,808 32,845
41,922 44 817
Note: Hiat
As at 31 March 2025, the unlisted debts securities represented unlisted R-ZE-_RAF=A=+—RH FLHEEELFES A
bonds with principal amount of HK$18,000,000 (2024: HK$18,000,000), BEELTARN—HHNBARESRESERAR (£
HK$18,500,000 (2024: HK$20,000,000) and HK$9,500,000 (2024: Bl BEAELTRASEXIERBER AR ([#53X]) RF
HK$13,440,000) issued by Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited (“Gold H==EHEEEERAA ([FE==EFK])BETH
Medal”), a subsidiary of listed company in Hong Kong, Hao Wen 7N & %8 /18,000,000 jT (=% = U4 : 18,000,000/
Holdings Limited (“Hao Wen”) and China 33 Media Group Limited 7T) ~ 18,500,000/ 7T ( — % — /Y 4F : 20,000,0005% 7T)
(“China 33 Media”) respectively, both of the companies listed in Hong 19,500,000/%8 7T ( = = PO 4 : 13,440,0007% 7T ) 2 3E
Kong. &S
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the unlisted bonds with HEZZ-_MF=A=1T—BLFE THERESHE
principal amount of HK$18,000,000 issued by Gold Medal was fully 1TH) 7N & 51 /218,000,000% A IF E M EH & EEHF -
subscribed, which are unsecured, carried interest at 8% per annum FRESER2FERIEM SR EBREMEES -

and matured in 2 years. Gold Medal is principally engaged in the
money lending service.
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18. DEBT INVESTMENTS MEASURED AT 18. HMBERAFECBEBRE (&)

AMORTISED COST (continued)

Note: (continued)

Unlisted bonds with principal amount of HK$20,000,000 issued by
Hao Wen, which are unsecured, carried interest at 5.5% per annum
and matured in 5 years. Hao Wen is principally engaged in the money
lending, processing and trading of electronic parts, provision of beauty
treatment Services and sale of burial plots and related services and
cemetery maintenance service.

Unlisted bonds issued by China 33 Media are unsecured, carried
interest at 12% per annum and matured in 3 years. China 33 Media
principally engaged in the provision of outdoor and digital advertising
services, film and entertainment investment, prepaid card business
and provision of printed media advertising services.

The movements in the loss allowance for credit losses of debt
investments measured at amortised cost are as follows:

Wizt ()

i P B2 TR £ %8/320,000,00008 STV I E (B 5 A &
B FRREEERSFRERM - HXETERERE B
FEHBUHNTIRES REXAERERBEARHEREER
Ko 18 B AR 7 R B 3 e o AR A%

TRE=Z=ZEEABETNELTESRSEER FHE12
EFRIFRER PRE-_=EETIEZREREPIREK
FTEERYE EXRRERE BANREBSRRETE
HEEE SRS -

RBHAAGHBZEABRAZEEBRZBRE
EEBHIMT

2025 2024

—EC-HF —ZmEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FH&T

At the beginning of the reporting period Rk s B9 9,651 5,919
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment REEIEREE S (BE) FE

losses, net (378) 3,732

At the end of the reporting period MRS HR 9,273 9,651

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6.

The above investment in the bonds issued by Gold Medal,
Hao Wen and China 33 Media are included in the list of 10
largest investments of the Group as at 31 March 2025, as
disclosed in note 19.

BB R i A B BT L6 o

B FIOFTBEE  EXREH BXEFH
CCEERTIEEZREFALEER T
“THE=ZA=1+t—"HBZ+tAKRERE-
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19. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS 19. XEERRFETEREZHE

HELD BY THE GROUP

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Chapter 21.12
of the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its list of all
investments with a value greater than 5 per cent of the
Group’s gross assets and at least 10 largest investments as

at 31 March 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

As at 31 March 2025

BEETRNFEINREZRTE AEEFER =
T_RFRZIZZNMF=ZA=+T—HEBESHAK
EEEERESY ZARERSEDI0EZKIE
BEHBOT

R-ZB-HAF=A=+—H

Dividend/
Interest
As at investee companies Cost Fair value received
2 WE
BREARA A AVE RE/FE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FTERT FTERT
Equity investments: BRARE:

WLS Holdings Limited (note 17(b)) ERBRERAR (HE17(b) 79,170 21,435 -
Minerva Group Holding Limited (note 17(c)) BEBERAERAR (Kit17(c)) 38,437 8,881 =
China Jicheng Holdings Limited (note 17(d)) HEIERERERRA (MiF17(d)) 19,600 8,374 =
Hao Wen Holdings Limited (note 17(e)) ENXIERERATR (Hit17(e)) 5,497 7,007 -
HSBC Holdings Plc (note 17(f)) ELERBRAR (MEE17()) 3,431 5,148 374

Dufu Liquor Group Limited (Formerly Known MHEREERERRAR (FIEFEIRRAER

As China Environmental Energy Investment BREBRRR) (Kit17(9))

Limited) (note 17(g)) 5,922 4,086 -
Kingland Group Holdings Limited (note 17(n))  SWtEBIERBR R (#:217(h)) 5,655 3,906 -
Debt investments BHRRE:

Hao Wen Holdings Limited (note 18) i ER AR AR (f15118) 19,305 15,808 1,145
China Media 33 Group Limited (note 18) HE==BEEEERRF (HiF18) 10,785 8,831 =
Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited (note 18) SREBEBBERAR (H15E18) 21,105 17,283 =
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19. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS

20.

HELD BY THE GROUP (continued)

As at 31 March 2024

R=—Z2-NMF&=A=+—H

19. X KBFRHFEEREZHE (&)

Dividend/
Interest
As at investee companies Cost Fair value received
2R
BREDT B NEE ik 8./ Fl&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET FET
Equity investments: BRARE:
Minerva Group Holding Limited (Formerly BEEERARLDA

known as Power Financial Group Limited) (AIBRERSRERFRAA)

(note 17(b)) (Hz17(b)) 38,437 15,601 -
WLS Holdings Limited (note 17(c)) EEZERABRAR (Ai17(c)) 79,170 13,191 -
China Jicheng Holdings Limited (note 17(d)) HEIERIERERRAE (MiF17(d)) 19,213 7,877 -
Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (note 17(e)) FEKERBRAR (Ait17(e)) 5,212 6,456 -
Prominent Alliance Limited (note 17(a)) Prominent Alliance Limited (#/7#17(a)) 20,000 6,276 -
SEEC Media Group Ltd. (note 17(f) S ERERRAR (H7217(1)) 8,400 5,903 -
AMCO United Holding Limited (note 17(g)) ERERER DR (HiF17(9)) 23,794 5,542 -
Debt investments: BHRE:

Hao Wen Holdings Limited (note 18) SRR AR AR (A1218) 20,871 17,173 1,100

China 33 Media Group Limited (note 18) HE==EREERRRE (f7218) 14,550 11,972 -

Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited (note 18) CREBERDF (f7118) 19,047 15,672 -
OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 20. HttBWRIE -FEANREBERES

DEPOSITS

2025 2024

—E-HEF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHET FHET

Other receivables H fth B W3k IE 5,858 5,829

Deposits paid [RENE &0 27 25

Financial assets MBEE 5,885 5,854

Prepayments TEfT RIA 48 32

5,933 5,886
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20. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 20. HMEWFIE BEARERES (F)
DEPOSITS (continued)
The Group recognised loss allowance for other receivables as LA 72 75 52 [t L fth I WS SR IE e 3R 2 IS T R 4
follows:
2025 2024
—E-HE —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
Other receivables H b fE N SR I8 20,026 20,026
Loss allowance E B R (14,168) (14,197)
Net impairment losses on other H A JE U SR8 2 R B B 1EF R
receivables 5,858 5,829
The movements in the loss allowance for ECL of other HtERFRBE 2 BHREEBE 2 BEREZ SN
receivables are as follows: T~
2025 2024
—EC-HF —TomEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTExT FHET
At the beginning of the reporting period & E ) 14,197 15,201
Reversal of impairment losses, net VRN SRR qEIbE S (29) (1,004)
At the end of the reporting period R E R 14,168 14,197

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6. AR = N T
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20.

21.

22.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND
DEPOSITS (continued)

The above impairment losses have been separately disclosed
as “impairment losses under expected credit loss model, net
of reversal” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

At the end of the reporting period, the receivable of
approximately HK$5,858,000 (2024: HK$5,829,000)
represents the consideration receivable arising from the
disposal of the unlisted equity investments through disposal
of subsidiaries in prior years. The amounts are unsecured,
carried interest at 5.875% and repayable within one year.

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 - Z-—HAF=fA=+—HIFE

HttEWRE ANREREZS (K)
FRAEBEERGABEREBREA B

EEBBRRATHREEE (KMNEREL)] -

R & HA R - JE W 3K T8 4 55,858,000 7T (==
— PO 5,829,000 L) EEBRNBEFED
EMBARMEEELTRAREEE Z BKRR
B SHEAEEM ILF X5.875F 7 B REAE

R—FREE-

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21. BERAEEEY

2025 2024
—EC-RE —E N4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Cash and bank balances ﬁ’i‘&fﬁﬁﬁi 6,078 5,066
Deposits at other financial institutions REM e REE 2 77K 357 2,046
6,435 7,112
During the reporting period, no cash and cash equivalents REEHE SRR IR SEMUNEHEEE

were denominated in a currency other than the functional ERZEEBUIINCEEEE-

currency of the relevant group entity.

The effective interest rate of the deposits ranges from 0.01%
to 0.63% (2024: 0.01% to 0.88%) per annum and all of them
have a maturity within three months from initial inception.

AMOUNT DUE TO BROKERS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has margin payables of
HK$5,558,000 (2024: HK$5,308,000) represents margin
loans arising from the trading of listed investments which are
repayable on demand and pledged with listed investment, the
remaining balance represent amount due to a broker which
repayable on demand and unsecured. No ageing analysis
is disclosed in respect of amount due to brokers. In opinion
of the directors, an ageing analysis does not give additional
value in view of the Group’s business nature.

Amount due to brokers bear interest rates ranged from 8% to
9.63% (2024: 8% to 9.63%) per annum for the year ended 31
March 2025.

22.

FR2EEBEFFAENT001EE063E (-
—PUF:0.01E=0.88/2)  FIBEFRRWER

RIgM =18 A RBIH -

FE {3 R 42 TR 1B

RZFEZ_RAF=A=1+—H ZAEBENEMLRE

%©5,558,000/% jT (=% — /M 4 : 5,308,000/% 7T )

AREBEIIMRESIBZARBECER EHRRKRES

,ﬁk;jﬁ%/\ﬁa;&jzutm% BRI M T
HHREREMNCLRE EAREREERAER

ﬁf’ﬂlﬁ&‘dﬂﬁgﬁﬂ“ RERBREDT -EER
YR %ﬁ@ﬁ*ﬁéﬁﬁ%l%ﬁ% HEmE & &R
SMEE -

BNEERERNBEZE T _AF=A=1+—HIt

FEZEHE
[EZE9.63E) -

NF8EZE9.63E (T _WHF:8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
% ’é‘ /E\ZI' ﬁ% ﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2025 #E—FT —AF=A=1+—HIFE
23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. R
Number of
ordinary
shares of
HK$0.001 each
BREE
0.001/8 T2
ZBEREAE
000 HK$’000
T i FHET
Authorised: VEJE
At 1 April 2023, at 31 March 2024 and R-E-=fmAB—H-
31 March 2025 —E-_ME=A=+—-HBK
—E-HF=A=+—H 1,200,000,000 1,200,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRHE
At 1 April 2023, at 31 March 2024 and R=-B-=£mA—A{-
31 March 2025 —E_mME=A=+—-HEK
—E-_H¥=H=+-H 412,597 413
All issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with each FrEEEITROBUARMBEFEZERSEHAL -

other.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
%éﬂji‘%iﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2025 H#E—F —AF=A=1+—HIFE

24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 24. B AETHE

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 29 August
2013 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to
directors and eligible employees. Under the Scheme, the
Board of Directors of the Company may grant options to
eligible employees, including directors of the Company and
its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant share
options to outside third parties for settlement in respect of
goods or services provided to the Company.

As at 31 March 2025, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Scheme was 29,250,000 (2024: 59,300,000),
representing approximately 7.09% (2024: 14.37%) of the
shares of the Company in issue at that date. The total number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted under
the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 20% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number of
shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options
granted and may be granted to any individual in any one year
is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options may
be exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share
option to the second anniversary of the date of grant. The
exercise price is determined by the Board of Directors, and
will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.

RARBEERS (T%FAE D IIRER-F
—ZFNAZTABEBBZRERTURS =
ZEAMDMEERAERERREAE RIEZ
B ARREERNRAEBRERE (BEAR
AREMBARER) R TARBARRKN
B LN RRR A AERIIRE=TEE
B UWHEBHETARANEYH R -

RZE-RAF=A=+—H ZEBEBTHER
R TERARITEERERD KRB RGER
/29,250,000/% ( —Z — pU 4 : 59,300,0000% ) °
HERARRERAEEHTERG Z247.09% (==
TP 14.37%) oAt EIE T AR 2 B R
BTt B 2 B B 8T R AR QB R 3 = L A
Al REMERE A SBAARRQTE EHTRM
20% - REM—FEE T RAIZFEMERAL
BB R BTG TEITIRGOEEE
RERRRIRESEMMER WERBREH TS
FIBARA D BEITIRN Z1% -

BREANREBEBER21IB AN N30 ERE
1B TTI T LA A - B B i AT 09X R Ak i B
EERLARE _EBSF L AREERITE 1T
EHEFRET ETSERTIZEEE (i)
BORREBRZKWHE: (i) BRORERRLA
WA hEEXR 2 FHWTE: ki) ZH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
% ’g‘ /E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2025 #E—FT —AF=A=1+—HIFE
24. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 24. BIRAERTE (&)
Details of options granted to directors and employees on RZEZZFNATZBRTESFIEEZER
12 August 2022 are as follows: RFBmT
Date of grant 12 August 2022 s gael=g- —TETZ—FNA+Z=H
Vesting period Immediate mEH BN
Exercise period 3 years from the date of grant 1715 88 BERHBEE=F
Exercise price HK$0.317 (8 0.3177% T
The following table discloses movement of the Company’s TEREBZEARNTDED KA 2 BIREY
share option granted and lapsed:
Number of
options Number
held as at Number Number  of options ~ Number of
1 April 2023,  of options  of options  cancelled/ options
31 March granted  exercised lapsed held as at
Exercise 2024 and  during the  during the  during the 31 March
Category Date of Grant Price Option Period 1 April 2024 Year Year Year 2025
R-B-=%
mA-RB:
ol }:3
=A=1-H R=BZ5f
kR=E-mE Erg#,/ =ZA=t-H
MA-Bf% FAREZ FrTRe 582 fii&
=¥ REBH e BRESS BREHE BREHE BREHE BRERE BREHE
Directors
Bz
Mr. CHAN Cheong Yee 11 August 2021 HK$0.421 Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - (3,250,000) =
REZLE ZEZ-FN\A+—B 0421 RLAEHEH=F
12 August 2022 HK$0.317 Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - - 3,250,000
ZTZZENRTZR 03TER BRERERH=F
Mr. FONG On Shek 11 August 2021 HK$0.421 Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - (3,250,000) -
FRALE ZEZ-FNA+—B 04218 BUELAEHEN=F
12 August 2022 HK$0.317 Three years from date of grant 3,250,000 - - (3,250,000) -
ZToZENRTZR 03MTER BRERERH=F
Employees 11 August 2021 HK$0.421 Three years from date of grant 20,300,000 - - (20,300,000) -
E&g ZEZ-FNA+-B 0421 BULAHEN=F
12 August 2022 HK$0.317 Three years from date of grant 26,000,000 - - - 26,000,000
ZToZENRTZR 03MTER BRERERH=F
Total
EH 59,300,000 - - (30,050,000) 29,250,000
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mEMBHRME

24,

25.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

No share options were exercised during the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024.

The fair value of share options granted on 12 August 2022
was calculated using Binominal Option Pricing Model. The

inputs into the model were as follows:

12 August 2022

Fair value HK$0.1445-HK$0.1362
Share price HK$0.2700
Exercise price HK$0.317
Expected volatility 106%
Expected life 3 years
Risk-free rate 2.644%
Expected dividend yield Nil

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 3
years at the grant date. The expected life used in the model
has been adjusted, based on the directors’ best estimate,
for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioral considerations.

HK$5,703,000 (2024: HK$Nil) related to the Scheme was
transferred to accumulated losses.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

Net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the
net assets included in the consolidated statement of
financial position of approximately HK$153,387,000 (2024:
HK$158,862,000) by the number of shares in issue as at 31
March 2025, being 412,597,000 (2024: 412,597,000).

24,

25.

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &2 - Z-—HAF=fA=+—HIFE

BREsE ()
REE-—F-AR-F-MNF=A=+—AL
4 FE 3 4 R AR AR AT 45 -

R-ZE-_ N AT -_AREZEREIFET
ER-_EARRETERAME ZBEERAZH
ABEEMT

—E-_FNA+=H

AFE 0.1445-0.1362/8 7T
1= 0.2700/8 7T
TR (E 0.3178 7T
TEHR K I8 106%
8 B 4F A7 =4
1 P ) = 2.644%
TE IR B % i

RIEE BB ERREDEBERARRRRNBE
ZFZBRERLREEE R AERFY
EREZZ&EMGBFHAR URRTATEE
- TERFRTAEEERR-

Eﬁi %25t &8l 5B R95,703,0008 L (T - MFE: =
T EEEEZAER-

BREEFE
BREEFEDEEEVBERARANME 2
B EFE#H153,387,00008 T (Z T &
158,862,000 L) R AR T AF=A=+—
HE %7 8 412,597,0000% (= Z P04
412,597,0008% ) 415 H -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
% ’g‘ /E\ZI' ﬁ% $ﬁ %% Bﬂ' EI For the year ended 31 March 2025 B#Z= — T - HF=A=+—HI-FE

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26. BEAERS

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the
Group had entered into the following transactions with the
investment manager of the Group which, in the opinion of the
directors, were carried out on normal commercial terms and in
the ordinary course of the Group’s business:

BHE T RFLR T MF=A=+—HILF
B AREERAEERELETLNATRS &
FRR WMERGINRAERAEERBRETIK
LR EGTUETT

2025 2024
—E-RE —EZEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Investment manager’s fee: WELKEER:
Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited BRES (BH 366 720
Total 4% 366 720
Note: Bt iz -
The Company entered into a investment management agreement VINYNEIDN ZEF+ZRANBEEREHR(FHE)AE

with Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited (the “Investment
Manager”) effective on 8 December 2020.

The Investment Manager is entitled to a monthly management fee of
HK$60,000 and payable monthly in advance.

The Investment Manager shall be deemed as a connected person of
the Company pursuant to Rule 21.13 of the Listing Rules upon the
agreement becoming effective. The transactions are considered a de
minimis transactions under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company considered
that the above investment management agreement is in the best
interests of the Company and were entered into on normal commercial
terms, in the ordinary course of business of the Company and that
investment management fee are calculated in accordance with
the above agreements and are fair and reasonable so far as the
shareholders of the Company are concerned.

Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts
paid to the directors of the Company and certain of the highest paid
employees are disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

UE/NCIN Hxﬁ%&ﬁl VR EEBH® -

REKEBERENEAEEE60,0008 T RANT A
A2 A o

Rz LR REKRIGHRE EmRAE21.13
BB RARREAL - RE EHRIE14A7615
ZERGUERTAREHRPKFINZS -

ARARBUFATESRALARETERAET AR
RAHZEMNG URARFDAFEBBRETRERTHE
BRFT MEEERERNRE L BHEAE YR
REARRMEBAFARE-

TRERABZME BREENTARAEERE TS
BEIERZFERBENGA M RRM 16 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 27. RIAKBRIGTE
The Group has participated in a defined contribution KEERE GREMAESTERI) BRESE
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “Scheme”) under the BEEREESMEBHRE G ERESE
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all eligible ([5H8]) B EEMEAEB EESRIFT AL
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the Scheme are GERZFAABEZES - REBEFE A58 (EX)
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the HEEFAVYESREERA(EER GRFIER
control of trustee. Under the scheme, each of the Group (the BEErEEH) ) 25% TSl fE L H 5K - 8 = 6
employer) and its employees makes monthly contributions EEBAZHREZZE—AFAA—HEHEZMN
to the Scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined 1,500 L AR ZHoMRBARMER  WEE
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. REF AT AR BT B FE MR-

The contributions from each of the employer and employees
are subject to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500 per
month since 1 June 2015 and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contributions payable in the future years.

The total contributions charged to the consolidated statement HE_Z -_AF=-A=-1+—HLFERGEER
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the K Eofth 2 W 2 R M Bk 2 42 4 5716,000%8 7T (=
year ended 31 March 2025 amounted to HK$16,000 (2024: TZHF 19,0008 T) RRAEERBE-Z
HK$19,000), representing contributions payable to the THF=Z A=+ —HIEFERRFESS 2 HR-

Scheme by the Group in respect of the year ended 31 March
2025.
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28. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 28.
OF THE COMPANY
Details of principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2025 and 2024

169

RAREEMBARNZFHR

R-ZE-_RAFEER _Z-_NFEF=F=+—HZITE

are as follows:

Name of subsidiary incorporation capital held by the Group Principal activities
rEERBERZ
W DR A o AR R 3 3t B BRITRAFE FrBERERRRELL A TEER
2025 2024
—E-HEF —T-F
Directly hold:
BEEESH:
Garron Consultancy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share 100% 100% Trading of securities
HK$1
SREMARAT BB TR 100% 100% #HEE
New Express Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share 100% 100% Trading of securities
HK$1 & investment
holding
MBRERE AT BB TERIET 100% 100% #HEELIKREEK
Jetland Global Investments Ltd British Virgin Ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment
Islands US$1 each holding
REBRUEE il 100% 100% HEZER
BREE1ET
Baiye Holdings Limited British Virgin Ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment holding
Islands US$1 each
RERLHS TEER 100% 100% EEK
BREEIET

Place of

Particulars of
issued share

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding

at end of the reporting period or at any time during the year.

MEBARFEHINMT:

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting rights

ERAMARBAMBARNEERREATZER
FREEIBRASEEEFEZIERN &

ERR FIEMMBARFEEBR TR

NSRRI FEREAER BERBARES
EAHREEZEEES
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29. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY 29. ARz MHBER

2025 2024
—E_RE —E_HF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Non-current assets IRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries KRB AR ZIKE 1 1
1 1
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables, prepayments H e W RIE AN RERES
and deposits 3,360 3,325
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE U5 B B 1 R k8 147,602 157,919
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFEEEY 354 1,111
151,316 162,355
Current liabilities REBAE
Accruals BB A 680 3,160
Amounts due to subsidiaries JERTHI B R Rl FkIA 1,376 1,381
2,056 4,541
Net current assets RBEEFEE 149,260 157,814
Net assets EERE 149,261 157,815
Capital and reserves EAXR#E
Share capital A& 2 413 413
Reserves (Note) (M) 148,848 157,402
Total equity B 149,261 157,815

Signed on its behalf by:

RATIHALTRERE:

CHAN Cheong Yee HON Leung
BRE= B
Director Director
EF EE
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REMBHRME

29. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

29. ARz MBEFR (F)

Note: MiEt -
Movement in reserves during the year FANFEEE
Capital Share
Share reduction option  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
&N
RO HEE HRfde BRERS REER st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2023 RZZTEZ=FWMA—AH 963,164 112,657 9,715 (893,586) 191,950
Loss and total comprehensive AFEBEEREEMX 2
expense for the year - - - (34,548) (34,548)
As at 31 March 2024 and RZZZWNE=RF=+—H
1 April 2024 FZZTZMFMNA—H 963,164 112,657 9,715 (928,134) 157,402
Loss and total comprehensive AFEEEEREERX 28
expense for the year - - - (8,554) (8,554)
Lapse of share options R AR R 2R 3 - - (5,703) 5,703 -
As at 31 March 2025 R-ZB-_HF=A=+—H 963,164 112,657 4,012 (930,985) 148,848
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Year ended 31 March
BE=B=1T—-HLFE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-RHF —T-_NMF —T-=F —ZE-Z B
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FExT FET FExT FET
RESULTS E4
Revenue g 6,538 5,318 3,592 4,478 4,521
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (B518) /& (5,475) (37,769) (41,152) (7,018) 3,569
Income tax credit FEHER - - - - -
(Loss)/profit attributable to EA/NSIEZS DN
owners of the Company e (B518) /& A (5,475) (37,769) (41,152) (7,018) 3,569
(Loss)/earnings per share g (BB) /BF
— Basic (HK cents) — &R (W) (1.33) (9.15) (10.92) (2.27) 1.43
At 31 March
R=ZA=+—H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“E-RE —Fomg ZT-=F ZT--F T—-F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FExT FET FET FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FERBEE 22,657 39,121 23,834 25,261 49,504
Current assets MBEE 138,086 129,166 180,661 200,457 153,752
Current liabilities mEaRE (7,356) (9,425) (7,864) (16,003) (7,750)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE - - - = =
Total equity o 153,387 158,862 196,631 209,715 195,506
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